Black Females' Perceptions of Their Social-Emotional Learning and the Inclusion of Counterspaces in Suburban High Schools

Mallory D. McCoy

BME, University of Missouri-Kansas City, 2008

MAED, Baker University, 2011

Submitted to the Graduate Department and Faculty of the School of Education of

Baker University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Education in Educational Leadership

Susan K. Rogers P

Major Advisor

farold Frve, EdD

Chaurice Jacobson, EdD

Date Defended: May 1, 2024

Copyright 2024 by Mallory D. McCoy

Abstract

The purpose of this study was to determine the extent to which Black females agree they had the opportunity to learn about and are confident in their social-emotional skills; to assess the extent of representation for Black females in classroom experiences, library books and resources, school employees, and students at the high school they recently attended; and to gauge their level of agreement about the benefit of a counterspace designed for Black females being offered at the high school they most recently attended. An additional purpose was to determine the extent there is a relationship between Black females' agreement about the opportunity to learn social-emotional skills and their agreement about the benefits of a counterspace for Black females had been offered at the high school they most recently attended. The next purpose was to determine the extent there is a relationship between Black females' agreement about their confidence in their social-emotional skills and their agreement about the benefits of a counterspace for Black females had been offered at the high school they most recently attended. The final purpose was to determine the extent there is a relationship between Black females' agreement about the representation of Black females at the high school they most recently attended and their agreement that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial. A quantitative research design utilizing survey methods was utilized to conduct this study. Seven research questions guided this study, and 33 hypothesis tests were conducted using the survey results from 21 participants. The results indicate that Black females are confident they learned how to establish and maintain healthy and supportive relationships. The results also indicate that Black females disagree that they were represented in the classroom experiences or school employees at the high

school they currently or recently attended. Furthermore, the results indicate that Black females agree or strongly agree that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial had it been offered at the high school they most recently attended. Implications for action include school administrators creating counterspaces for Black females in their schools and providing a supportive social-emotional component that is modified to accommodate Black females in suburban educational spaces.

Recommendations for further research include expanding the study to other suburban areas, replicating the study to collect data from all females about their perceptions in suburban educational spaces, and examining the data in relation to various demographics, and replicating the study to add a qualitative component.

Dedication

This work is a love letter to 9-year-old Mallory Denise Clark. She was always looking for herself in every space and never saw any representation of herself in any space she was in. I hope that with my work and my research, she feels seen, heard, felt, and loved. When she wrote that she wanted to have a Doctorate in Educational Administration, she did not even know what that meant. But look, girl! We did it!

Acknowledgments

Words cannot express my forever gratitude to Dr. Rogers. When my previous advisor retired, I was hoping to get another major advisor who was socially open since my dissertation is so Black girl magical and who would support me in achieving a swift completion. Dr. Rogers has been that for me, consistently providing constructive feedback and expertise. I have most appreciated her academic push to get me where I am right now ... FINISHED! I also enjoyed hearing about her travels to see her granddaughter play soccer and teach her family how to make Lebanese bread. I am also grateful to Dr. Waterman, who interjected her expertise in data analysis and shared her deep love for her animals and garden during our virtual calls. I loved both the flow and ebbs of our meetings. Both are beautiful humans. Thanks to Dr. Frye and Dr. Jacobson for serving on my committee. Dr. Frye is giving and kind, and Dr. Jacobson is incredible for helping me out!

I am also grateful to Baker University Cohort 24. We connected and carried each other through the pandemic and, despite the craziness of it all, persevered! The majority of us held in there and made it to the end of the courses. Some of us have already obtained our EdD, and others are still moving toward it. Nonetheless, it was an honor to learn from you and academically grow with you. May we continue to check up on each other and may our text message group never dry up. We still have to take our trip!

To the 22 ladies who completed my survey: I am incredibly grateful for your participation. With your contribution, you have helped me add to the research pool that advances knowledge and promotes advocacy for the livelihood of Black girls, Black young ladies, and Black women in any space or counterspace we exist.

To Dad: you have always been there, and you have always been and continue to be supportive. You are one of my greatest gifts in this life! I literally would not be where I am today if it were not for your sacrifices. Your hard work and dedication have not gone unnoticed. I am forever indebted to you. I love you.

To Mom: thank you so much for being my emotional rock when you could.

Thank you for your vessel that safely housed me and ushered me into this earthly plane,
being always willing to listen and picking up the phone when I call. I love you.

To Raymond: there are truly no words that could properly express my gratitude to you for everything. No one truly knows the full extent of all the good and the crazy that has transpired since I started this program but you. In all the ways I can never express with words, you made it possible for me to achieve my dream of getting a doctorate, and I am forever indebted to you. I am grateful for your sacrifices as well. I will love you as long as time exists and beyond.

To my son Raymond II: you were the driving force that propelled me through the completion of this doctoral program. I never knew I could love anyone as much as I love you. I do what I do so you do not ever have to. You are my joy personified, and I am incredibly blessed to be your mom. For all the times I had to close the door and spend time away from you, I cannot wait to make it up to you. I love you forever and one more day, sweet thang.

To my sister Nicole: thank you for all you are to me and for being my check-in and cheerleader person. We have laughed, cried, fought, and loved one another for our whole lifetime. Love you, sis!

To my mother-in-law, Maria: thank you for being a mighty part of my tiny yet mighty village! You love me like a daughter, and you have helped out with RII in any way you can! I am thankful for your presence in my life. Love you!

To my babysitter Kylie: Thank you for watching RII anytime I needed you, especially on dissertation writing Wednesdays. I knew he was in good hands when he was with you. Good luck with your future endeavors!

To anyone else in my life who has shared a motivating word, prayed for me, hugged me, pushed me in a positive way (Katie), laughed with me, cried with me, listened to me when I needed to vent and have grown women conversations (Stephanie, Ofelia), invited me out, hung out with me (Vanessa, Tammie, Dr. Denisha), loved on me, gave me tips for success in writing my dissertation and shared resources with me (Dr. Cherlisa and Dr. Ashley), liked a Facebook or Instagram post, watched me offload my thoughts on social media and responded, THANK YOU! You are a projection of my reality, so I am incredibly thankful I manifested YOU in my life!

Lastly, to little Mallory and other Black girls who are receiving their education from a predominately White institution: I see you. I hope this research also helps you to feel seen and supported. I hope this research highlights the urgency to create a counterspace in your educational space so you feel like you can breathe in and out the very essence of who you are without anyone feeling the need to police the way you look, the way you talk, or the way you move. Never let anyone dim your light or try to usurp your magic. You are incredible. I love us.

Table of Contents

Abstract	ii
Dedication	iv
Acknowledgments	v
Table of Contents	viii
List of Tables	xi
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
Background	3
Statement of the Problem	6
Purpose of the Study	7
Significance of the Study	8
Delimitations	8
Assumptions	9
Research Questions	9
Definition of Terms	11
Organization of the Study	14
Chapter 2: Review of the Literature	15
Suburbanization	15
Housing Implications in the Kansas City Metro Area	17
Educational Implications	18
Educational Implications in the Kansas City Metro Area	20
Suburban Educational Experience of Black Female Students	22
Classroom Experiences	23

Academic Disparties	23
Disciplinary Disparities	25
Books and Resources in the Library and the Classroom	29
Teacher Representation	33
Student Representation	37
Black Females' Perceptions of Suburban High Schools	39
Social-Emotional Learning Framework	42
SEL Implications for Black Females	45
Opportunities to Learn	46
Social-Emotional Confidence.	49
Counterspaces	50
Other Definitions	50
Theoretical Foundations	51
Intersectionality and Its Connection to Counterspaces	53
Challenges and Criticisms	54
Positive Outcomes of Counterspaces for Black Females	55
Summary	57
Chapter 3: Methods	58
Research Design	59
Selection of Participants	59
Measurement	60
Data Collection Procedures	64
Data Analysis and Hypothesis Testing	65

Limitations	73
Summary	74
Chapter 4: Results	75
Hypothesis Testing	76
Summary	90
Chapter 5: Interpretation and Recommendations	91
Study Summary	91
Overview of the Problem	91
Purpose Statement and Research Questions	92
Review of the Methodology	93
Major Findings	93
Findings Related to the Literature	94
Conclusions	97
Implications for Action	97
Recommendations for Future Research	98
Concluding Remarks	100
References	101
Appendices	119
Appendix A. Social Media Solicitation for Email Addresses of Survey	
Participants	120
Appendix B. Survey	122
Appendix C. Expert Panel Email	126
Appendix D. IRB Approval Letter	128

Appendix E. Solicitation Email	130
Appendix F. Solicitation Email Reminder	132

List of Tables

Table 1. Alignment of Survey Items, Research Questions, and Hypotheses	62
Table 2. Test and Descriptive Statistics for the Tests of H1-H6	78
Table 3. Test and Descriptive Statistics for the Tests of H7-H12	80
Table 4. Test and Descriptive Statistics for the Tests of H13-H16	82
Table 5. Test Statistics and Correlations for the Tests of H18-H23	85
Table 6. Test Statistics and Correlations for the Tests of H24-H29	88
Table 7. Test Statistics and Correlations for the Tests of H30-H33	90

Chapter 1

Introduction

The educational experiences of Black females have been a topic of interest for researchers in recent years. In the past, researchers have focused on the experiences of Black females in urban areas (e.g., Annamma et al., 2019; Watson, 2016); however, the experiences of Black females in other areas have received less attention (Price, 2022). Leath et al. (2019) explained how the scholarly examination of discriminatory experiences faced by Black females within educational settings has received limited attention, as existing literature on females and gender dynamics in education frequently overlooks the experiences of females of color. Leath et al. (2019) further explained that "concern over the status of Black males in education (although important and warranted), along with Black girls' relatively higher academic achievement and attainment outcomes, can result in under examination of Black girls' educational processes" (pp. 1323-1324).

Compared with their White counterparts, the social-emotional experiences and opportunities for Black female students in suburban schools can vary significantly, resulting in Black females facing unique challenges in their educational experiences. For example, the results of a study by Crenshaw et al. (2015) indicated, "Black girls face a statistically greater chance of suspension and expulsion compared to other students of the same gender" (p. 25). In addition, a meta-ethnographic review conducted by Neal-Jackson (2018) "revealed that the young [Black] women experienced inequity at the hands of school officials who did not believe in their potential given narratives that situated them in disparaging ways" (p. 542). Neal-Jackson (2018) further explained, "Although the girls and young women held different ideas of themselves, the teachers'

narratives were critical to the academic opportunities, or lack thereof, that they were afforded" (p. 542). Gender, race, and social class collectively affect insights regarding Blackness and femininity (Morris, 2007), and consequently, Black females often have increased levels of psychological distress and poor self-concept in these suburban and predominantly White schools (Nash, 2009).

Furthermore, Black females in suburban areas may also face gendered stereotypes that can impact their educational experiences. For example, they may be perceived as "angry" or "aggressive" when they assert themselves in the classroom (Morris, 2007). These gendered stereotypes can lead to discipline disparities, where Black females are more likely to be punished more harshly for the same behaviors as their White peers (Crenshaw et al., 2015).

Riley (2021) shared statements from Black female students in the Kansas City metro area about their experiences in the suburban high schools they attended. One Black female student shared that her entire K-12 educational experience was plagued with the denial of her academic abilities, microaggressions, and changing her native communication style to fit in with the foreign social setting, all while attempting to conform to the environment (Riley, 2021). Another Black female student expressed the following, "Thanks to [my school], I am accustomed to a rigorous course load which has prepared me for college, but I also grew accustomed to stray comments about my skin and my hair" (Riley, 2021, p. 116). A Black female Vanderbilt College student who graduated from a Kansas City suburban high school said when interviewed, "If we want to improve our educational experience, I think we should really be thinking about opening up spaces that are for Black people specifically" (Riley, 2021, p. 118).

Background

Hill (2021) detailed how the inception of the United States education system continues to affect the current systemic patterns seen in education today. Hill (2021) pointed out, "In 1779, Thomas Jefferson proposed the 'two track education system'—one for the labored and one for the learned... Access, educational quality, and school resources were segregated based on an inherently biased belief system" (p. 97). Hill (2021) also explained how *Plessy v. Ferguson* solidified a two-track education system by ruling that "segregated public facilities were legal, as long as the facilities for Blacks and Whites were equal (p. 97). Hill (2021) also emphasized that in this climate, "equality was purely subjective" (p. 97) and solely based on what the dominant culture believed was equal at the time, which consequently subjected Black students to six decades of inequality in the American educational system. Even with the landmark 1954 case of Brown v. Board of Education and forced integration, Black students were forced out of their established caring and supporting schooling spaces, and the Black community no longer had control over the education of their children (Hill, 2021). "Culturally relevant pedagogical practices" were demolished, thrusting Black students into "punitive, isolated, and remedial classrooms taught by White teachers who had no desire to focus on their needs" (Hill, 2021, p. 98).

Several landmark education policy changes geared toward improving the American educational system have been made since *Brown v. Board of Education* (Hill, 2021). Morris (2016) noted that the Brown decision ended *de jure* segregation, discrimination based on laws and official policies (Rothstein, 2018), but it did not address how persistent racism, xenophobia, and race-poverty would maintain *de facto*

segregation. For example, Brown did not address how increased racial isolation in neighborhoods would keep schools very segregated (Morris, 2016).

In the Kansas City metro area, the effects of residential segregation and redlining, "the practice of systematically denying various services (e.g., credit access) to residents of specific neighborhoods, often based on race/ethnicity and primarily within urban communities" (Egede et al., 2023, para. 2), still prominently impact the area (Mid-America Regional Council, 2023). Morris (2018) stated that "since the elimination of *de jure* segregation, Black girls have been subjected to harmful stereotypes about Black femininity that have at least shaped and at worst defined their experiences in classrooms and schools around the country" (p. 13).

Keels (2019) defined the term "counterspaces" as "safe spaces that simultaneously validate and critique one's interconnected self and group identity" (p. 14). Keels (2019) explained that counterspaces are "revolutionary settings embedded within larger settings and contexts. That is, they are pockets of resistance that may, to one extent or another, disrupt the dominant narrative of the larger setting and context" (p. 19). Counterspaces are explicitly created for people from marginalized groups; however, they can also accept people from privileged groups if they adhere to the principle of fostering adaptive responding, which is the set of emotional, psychological, and behavioral skills that enable people from marginalized groups to deal with and resist oppression (Keels, 2019). Additionally, Keels (2019) stated that "counterspaces can be ideational, relational, or physical spaces, and have academic, social, cultural, or political goals" (Keels, 2019, p. 31). Case and Hunter (2012) explained that members of counterspaces receive social

support from a community of people who can empathize with their experiences, contribute to a shared sense of safety, and help them feel less isolated in the setting.

According to Keels (2019), marginalized students encounter distinct identitybased obstacles that remind them of their social identities and impede their ability to participate equally with the rest of the student body. Addressing these challenges requires substantial psychological and emotional fortitude (Keels, 2019). Thus, providing counterspaces with social-emotional support using the Collaborative for Academic, Social, and Emotional Learning's (CASEL's) social-emotional learning (SEL) framework could be beneficial as the foundation of counterspaces in suburban high schools. CASEL's (2020) SEL framework was created to "advance educational equity and excellence through authentic school-family-community partnerships to establish learning environments and experiences that feature trusting and collaborative relationships, rigorous and meaningful curriculum and instruction, and ongoing evaluation" (p. 1). CASEL has been at the forefront of the SEL movement ever since it initially coined the term over 20 years ago (CASEL, 2024). CASEL collaborates with policymakers, practitioners, and researchers to ensure that all individuals have access to high-quality, evidence-based SEL. Additionally, CASEL advances the field by addressing the most important concerns through performing, commissioning, and synthesizing academic research (CASEL, 2024). Five competencies make up the SEL framework: self-awareness, self-management, social awareness, relationship skills, and responsible decision-making (CASEL, 2020).

Statement of the Problem

Maslow (as cited in Burleson & Thoron, 2014) taught that humans have specific needs to be met before others can be attained. Physiological and safety needs must be "adequately met" before students can focus on love and belongingness needs, and Maslow (as cited in Burleson & Thoron, 2014) described that when humans are denied belongingness and love, "they hunger for affectionate relationships with people or strive for a place within a group" (p. 2). However, the need to be loved and accepted by one's community is often just as vital as the need for food, water, and shelter (Burleson & Thoron, 2014). Morris (2022) challenged current educational spaces to become "locations of healing" so they can ultimately be "locations for learning" because "healing facilitates safety" (p. 19). Because students' brains are more open to learning new things and processing and forming ideas when they feel safe, when students feel unsafe, their brains are focused on keeping them safe from what they think is a danger or harm (Morris, 2022).

Qualitative studies have been conducted that reflect the Black female's experience in suburban educational spaces in higher education and on college campuses, outline the experience of Black students in suburban educational spaces, and account for Black students' experiences in urban and rural settings (e.g., Morris, 2012, 2016, 2018, 2022; Nash, 2009; Neal-Jackson, 2018; Price, 2022). Qualitative and mixed-method research has been conducted on the experiences of Black female students in predominantly White institutions (e.g., Andrews, 2009; Andrews et al., 2019; Fordham, 2016). However, there is limited quantitative research that focuses solely on the experiences of Black females in suburban high schools, especially with a social-emotional skill learning emphasis.

Purpose of the Study

The focus of this study was Black females who currently or recently attended a suburban high school in the Kansas City metro area. The first purpose of this study was to determine the extent Black females agreed they had the opportunity to learn socialemotional skills at the high school they most recently attended. The second purpose was to determine the extent Black females agree they are confident in their social-emotional skills. The third purpose was to determine the extent Black females agree they are represented at the high school they most recently attended. The fourth purpose was to determine the extent Black females agree that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial had it been offered at the high school they most recently attended. The fifth purpose was to determine the extent there is a relationship between Black females' agreement about the opportunity to learn social-emotional skills and their agreement about the benefits of a counterspace for Black females had it been offered at the high school they most recently attended. The sixth purpose was to determine the extent there is a relationship between Black females' agreement about their confidence in their social-emotional skills and their agreement about the benefits of a counterspace for Black females had it been offered at the high school they most recently attended. The seventh purpose was to determine the extent there is a relationship between Black females' agreement about the representation of Black females at the high school they most recently attended and their agreement that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial.

Significance of the Study

This study significantly contributes to the field, as few quantitative studies have focused on Black females' educational experiences in suburban high school settings. There are few published studies that 1) are solely quantitative, 2) survey Black female students regarding their social-emotional well-being during their educational experience in suburban high schools, and 3) address the possible need for counterspaces for Black females in suburban schools. Therefore, the results of this study might provide the research field with more quantitative evidence for the importance of social-emotional support tailored for Black females in suburban educational settings. The significance of this study is to bring attention to the educational experience of Black female students by presenting the study's findings to the community in which the study was conducted. Furthermore, school systems across the United States can use these results to analyze their practices, modify them accordingly, and brainstorm ways to change current practices. To fully understand the status of Black females in suburban educational settings, this study was conducted in areas representative of the numerous Kansas City metro area suburban schools.

Delimitations

Lunenburg and Irby (2008) indicate that "delimitations are self-imposed boundaries set by the researcher on the purpose and scope of the study" (p. 134). The following are delimitations for this study:

1. The study was conducted using a Likert-type scale survey created by the researcher.

2. The survey participants identified as Black females, ages 18 and older, who currently or recently attended a suburban high school in the Kansas City metro area.

Assumptions

Per Lunenburg and Irby (2008), "assumptions are postulates, premises, and propositions that are accepted as operational for purposes of the research [, and] include the nature, analysis, and interpretation of the data" (p. 134). Assumptions made in the research process include the following:

- 1. The survey instrument accurately measured the variables in this study.
- 2. The participants answered the survey questions truthfully.
- 3. All participants understood the terms used in the survey questions.
- 4. All participants were born female or identified as female and Black.

Research Questions

The focus of the current study was to determine the extent Black females agree they had the opportunity to learn and are confident in their social-emotional skills, the extent of representation for Black females in their school climate, and the agreement about the benefits of a counterspace for Black females had been offered at the high school they most recently attended. Seven research questions were addressed in this study.

RQ1

To what extent do Black females agree they had the opportunity to learn socialemotional skills at the high school they most recently attended?

RQ2

To what extent do Black females agree they are confident in their socialemotional skills?

RQ3

To what extent do Black females agree they are represented at the high school they most recently attended?

RQ4

To what extent do Black females agree that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial had it been offered at the high school they most recently attended?

RQ5

To what extent is there a relationship between Black females' agreement about the opportunity to learn social-emotional skills and their agreement that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial at the high school they most recently attended?

RQ6

To what extent is there a relationship between Black females' agreement about their confidence in their social-emotional skills and their agreement that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial at the high school they most recently attended?

RQ7

To what extent is there a relationship between Black females' agreement about the representation of Black females at the high school they most recently attended and their agreement that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial?

Definition of Terms

This section provides definitions of terms used in this dissertation to assist the reader with comprehension of terms used in the research. The provided terms are listed in alphabetical order with citations.

Counterspace

Keels (2019) defined counterspaces as secure environments that both affirm and analyze one's interrelated sense of self and collective identity, fostering transformative development. Keels further explained, "Radical growth can be understood as the development of ideas and narratives that challenge dominant representations of and notions about their marginalized identities" (p. 2). Keels (2019) pointed out that counterspaces exist for many reasons, but moreover, they are intended to serve as "identity-conscious" and "identity-affirming" spaces for the students participating in them (p. 11). For the current study, counterspace was defined as a safe space where individuals with shared identities come together to promote self-perception, discuss experiences, and affirm their feelings as marginalized members of a school, business, church, or other organization.

Emotional Confidence

Lindenfield (2014) listed ways a person can demonstrate emotional confidence, including, but not limited to, the following:

(a) free experience of a "full rich range of emotions from deep despair and gut anger to exhilarating joy and tender love without ever worrying that their heart will rule their head"; (b) independently able to control their emotional responses; (c) motivate themselves; (d) "express their feelings at the 'right' time and in the 'right' place, and to the 'right' person;" and (e) respond appropriately to others' emotional states. (pp. 10-11)

Relationship Skills

CASEL (2020) described relationship skills as "the abilities to establish and maintain healthy and supportive relationships and to effectively navigate settings with diverse individuals and groups" (p. 2). CASEL (2020) further explained that "this includes the capacities to communicate clearly, listen actively, cooperate, work collaboratively to problem solve and negotiate conflict constructively, navigate settings with differing social and cultural demands and opportunities, provide leadership, and seek or offer help when needed" (p. 2).

Responsible Decision-Making

CASEL (2020) explained responsible decision-making as "the ability to make caring and constructive choices about personal behavior and social interactions across diverse situations" (p. 2). CASEL (2020) further explained that "this includes the capacities to consider ethical standards and safety concerns, and to evaluate the benefits and consequences of various actions for personal, social, and collective well-being" (p. 2).

Self-Awareness

CASEL (2020) defined self-awareness as "the ability to understand one's own emotions, thoughts, and values and how they influence behavior across contexts" (p. 2).

CASEL (2020) further explained that "this includes capacities to recognize one's strengths and limitations with a well-grounded sense of confidence and purpose" (p. 2).

Self-Management

CASEL (2020) defined self-management as "the ability to manage one's emotions, thoughts, and behaviors effectively in different situations and to achieve goals and aspirations" (p. 2). CASEL (2020) further explained that "this includes the capacities to delay gratification, manage stress, and feel motivation & agency to accomplish personal/collective goals" (p. 2).

Social Awareness

CASEL (2020) explained social awareness as "the ability to understand the perspectives of and empathize with others, including those from diverse backgrounds, cultures, & contexts." (p. 2). CASEL (2020) further explained that "this includes the capacities to feel compassion for others, understand broader historical and social norms for behavior in different settings, and recognize family, school, and community resources and supports" (p. 2).

Social Confidence

According to Rinehart (2003), a socially confident person is absent of social anxiety, has the "ability to act assertively," has a "sense of self-efficacy regarding one's social interactions," and has a "tendency toward a more positive appraisal of social interactions" (p. ii).

Social-Emotional Framework

CASEL (2020) defined social and emotional learning as a process all young people and adults can use to advance and mature their skills in the following areas of

competency: self-awareness, self-management, social awareness, relationship skills, and responsible decision-making. The framework defines each competency and provides examples to apply in classroom, school, home, and community settings (CASEL, 2020). SEL promotes educational equity and excellence by fostering authentic school-family-community partnerships, fostering trusting learning environments, and implementing rigorous curriculum and evaluation (CASEL, 2020). It also intends to empower young people and adults to co-create thriving schools and contribute to safe, healthy communities (CASEL, 2020).

Suburban

Adapted from definitions used by the United States Census Bureau (2010) and the NCES (2006), for this study, suburban refers to a territory inside an urbanized area (50,000 or more people) and outside a principal city. All counties in the Kansas City metro area are statistically predominately White (Mid-America Regional Council [MARC], 2021).

Organization of the Study

This dissertation is organized into five chapters. Chapter 1 provided the introduction, background, statement of the problem, the purpose of the study, delimitations, assumptions, research questions, the definition of terms, and an overview of the study. Chapter 2 presents an overview review of relevant literature. Chapter 3 details the methodology used to conduct the research. A discussion of the results of the study is found in Chapter 4. The final chapter includes a summary of the study, findings related to the literature, and the conclusions.

Chapter 2

Review of the Literature

Chapter 2 includes a history of suburbanization in the United States and the Kansas City metro area and its impact on the social-emotional learning of Black females in suburban high schools. Additionally, provided in this chapter is an overview of the social-emotional learning framework, its competencies, and how its framework is utilized in schools. Furthermore, detailed in this chapter are the profound impact of social-emotional counterspaces on the educational experience of the Black female student in suburban schools, why providing social-emotional counterspaces for them in suburban high schools is vital to their educational experience, and existing literature that supports Black females' perceptions.

Suburbanization

Suburbanization refers to the expansion and reorganization of modern cities, driven by the migration of population, housing, and commercial activities to low-density settlements (Pieretti, 2014). Suburbanization became a significant dynamic in urban development in the late nineteenth century (Champion, 2003) and grew significantly after 1945, coinciding with the end of World War II (Jones, 2003). Upon their return, millions of veterans were eligible to receive benefits from the G.I. Bill, the Veterans Administration, and the Federal Housing Administration (FHA) to help pay for their schooling or purchase a home (Jones, 2003). A housing shortage still existed, leading to developers creating homes outside the urban core for those who could afford them (Jones, 2003). The housing development resulted in suburban areas housing one-third of the nation's population by 1960 (Jones, 2003).

Coinciding with the suburban residential explosion was the creation of laws that would exclude Black people from moving to suburban areas. During the 1940s, Blacks were excluded by de facto segregation and the FHA's practice of encouraging restrictive covenants in deeds that prohibited the sale of FHA-financed properties to Black people (Bondi, 1995). In a 1948 response, the U.S. Supreme Court declared these covenants unconstitutional in Shelly v. Kraemer (Bondi, 1995). As a result, the FHA drew red lines around predominantly Black inner-city neighborhoods on city maps and refused to insure loans for homes in those areas, citing a lack of "economic stability" and "protection from adverse conditions" (Bondi, 1995). The current residential segregation observed in all regions of the United States is not merely a result of individual choices or unintentional outcomes of well-intentioned laws and regulations. Instead, it is a direct consequence of deliberate state policies implemented to segregate metropolitan areas in the country. The policy was so systematic and aggressive that its effects persist in the present time (Rothstein, 2018). Thus, "without our government's purposeful imposition of racial segregation, the other causes—private prejudice, White flight, real estate steering, bank redlining, income differences, and self-segregation—still would have existed but with far less opportunity for expression" (Rothstein, 2018, pp. 5-6).

Regardless of the implementation of The Fair Housing Act of 1968, which was intended to eliminate housing discrimination, Black residents attempting to relocate to safer areas were often met with other roadblocks that prevented them from doing so, including other discriminatory legislation on local, state, and federal levels from the Internal Revenue Service, insurance companies, banks, thrift institutions, housing developer policies, homeowner groups, and the construction of the federal interstate

highway system (Rothstein, 2018). Black residents successfully purchasing property in suburban areas were even met with violence from their White counterparts, which included rock throwing, burning crosses on their front lawns, arson, and other violent acts, all without the protection of law enforcement (Rothstein, 2018).

Housing Implications in the Kansas City Metro Area

Gotham (2000) described how The Fair Housing Act of 1968 and the Section 235 Program had the opposite effect than its original intentions in the Kansas City metro area. The Section 235 program, a housing subsidy program that is part of the 1968 Fair Housing Act, was initially aimed to stimulate homeownership for non-Whites and people experiencing poverty (Gotham, 2000). However, in Kansas City, Missouri, it was found that most Black families were only able to purchase residences in urban regions experiencing racial transformation and enabling the great majority of White families to buy new homes in the suburbs (Gotham, 2000). Kansas City was identified "as one of the nation's hypersegregated metropolitan areas due to the high degree of segregation in housing patterns" (Gotham, 2000, p. 15). Recent data from the MARC (2023) website shows that the impacts from the housing practices described previously still impact the region today. Two factors remain as residual evidence: people of color continue to reside in areas of the region where poverty is also concentrated, and the 2020 Census reveals that lower-rated Home Owners' Loan Corporation (HOLC) neighborhoods in the Kansas City metro area continue to have lower property values, lower homeownership rates, and higher minority resident rates (MARC, 2023).

According to Norris and Baek (2016), Wyandotte County, Kansas, was greatly impacted by the HOLC lower-rated neighborhoods, and its residents fell victim to

redlining. The effects of the racialized HOLC assessments are felt by residents in the present day, as neighborhoods poorly rated experienced systematic disinvestment, resulting in housing declines and property value loss (Norris & Baek, 2016). In turn, not only has the housing aged and declined, but also the health of the minority and low-income residents has been greatly affected; these factors directly affect the quality of education for students living in this area (Norris & Baek, 2016). Developers like J.C. Nichols, the Kroh Brothers, Charles Vawter, and others placed racially restrictive covenants on new suburban neighborhoods that prohibited Blacks and other people of color from buying homes (Johnson County Museum, 2022). Greenlining usually required racially restricted covenants, home associations, and an extensive list of property restrictions, and even if they could afford a new home, redlined residents had few options (Johnson County Museum, 2022). In 1947, 96% of Johnson County suburban houses were reserved for White buyers, becoming the metro's most restricted community by 20% (Johnson County Museum, 2022).

Educational Implications

Most suburbs in the country's largest metropolitan areas still have a majority White student population. Suburban schools have a higher percentage of White students than urban schools, and the U.S. education system is becoming more segregated (Breslow et al., 2016; Chapman & Bhopal, 2019). Despite the discrepancy, researchers have found that "because the presence of racial minority students disrupts the racial and cultural homogeneity in these contexts, these students face particular academic and social challenges in these learning environments" (Chapman & Bhopal, 2019, p. 1111).

Most students in the United States attend suburban schools, yet scholarly education articles mostly target urban schools (Diamond et al., 2021). For instance, between 2000 and 2018, 80% of the articles published in the top five American Educational Research Association journals focused explicitly on urban schools, 11.7% on suburban schools, and 8% on rural schools (Diamond et al., 2021). The hyperfocus of urban school research is because many key educational issues—race and class disparities, demographic change, immigration, and English learning—are widely believed to be more acute in urban (and even rural) contexts rather than in suburban schools (Diamond et al., 2021).

Ultimately, the landscape of suburban schools is rapidly changing to closely resemble the racial makeup of the nation's public-school students (Stanford, 2023). The conventional perception of suburban areas as affluent, predominantly Caucasian enclaves is antiquated (Stanford, 2023). In order to guarantee fair and just provision of services, educators and policymakers need to change their perspectives (Stanford, 2023). The proportion of White students in suburban areas decreased from 55% in 2011 to 46% in 2022 (Stanford, 2023). Nevertheless, 22% of the individuals identified as Hispanic, 13% as Black, and 8% as Asian (Stanford, 2023). Suburban schools have encountered difficulties such as persistent absenteeism, diminishing academic performance, student psychological issues, and shortages in staff (Stanford, 2023). Suburban schools also experienced a significant decline in math performance in 2022, causing them to be on par with rural schools, which they had previously surpassed (Stanford, 2023).

Educational Implications in the Kansas City Metro Area

The education landscape of Kansas City Public Schools (KCPS) was forever shaped by one landmark case, Missouri v. Jenkins (Karst, 2000). A federal district court ordered the desegregation of the Kansas City school district, requiring the state of Missouri and the district to share the costs of the remedy (Karst, 2000). The court ordered the district's property tax levy to be increased to fund the desegregation remedy (Karst, 2000). The Supreme Court overturned the decision by ruling that the district court had misused its authority in imposing the tax (Karst, 2000). Justice Anthony Kennedy disagreed, arguing that the district court had the power to levy such a tax, as it would exceed the judicial power established in Article III of the Constitution (Karst, 2000). Judge Kennedy suggested that the desegregation of schools could have been accomplished without requiring funding beyond the district's current means (Karst, 2000). The case was later reopened in 1995, and despite the school district's desires, the state asserted that all remnants of the former segregated system had been eradicated, resulting in the federal district court refusing to rescind its order with a 5-4 vote (Hall & Ely, 2009). It was argued that the primary objective of the desegregation order was to attract White pupils from outside the predominantly minority KCPS, thereby increasing racial integration in KCPS (Missouri v. Jenkins). The court concluded that because the district court had only found unlawful segregation within the Kansas City school district, it lacked the authority to devise a remedy to increase interdistrict desegregation (Missouri v. Jenkins).

According to George (2021), KCPS remains predominately Black, and the state's withdrawal of financial support from Black communities has led to a continuous scarcity

of resources in these schools, resulting in intensified educational disparities affecting Black children in Kansas City. George (2021) further expressed that these educational disparities deepened during the pandemic, exposing other systemic inequalities, such as the lack of home internet access for online instruction, resulting in many students' learning loss. According to George (2021), 32% of homes east of Troost do not have an internet connection, and 26% do not have a computer.

Rury (2019) pointed out that although the majority of the Kansas City metro area's child poverty is concentrated in the Kansas City, Missouri School District, Kansas City, Kansas also has a sizeable amount of child poverty. Due in large part to significantly greater levels of residential segregation, Black residents in this area have historically experienced more deprivation than most Whites and other minority groups, and this has persisted into the twenty-first century (Rury, 2019).

Analyzing the scores of the Missouri Assessment Program (MAP) exam, a grade level assessment used to measure students' academic performance against the Missouri learning standards, quantitatively exposes the educational disparity in the Kansas City metro area (Hill, 2021). According to a report prepared by Sireno and Bates (2022), the COVID-19 pandemic has had a significant disruptive effect on all student learning; however, there was a stark decrease in proficiency for Black students statewide (Sireno & Bates, 2022) and in the Kansas City metro area (Hill, 2021). In 2019, Black students in Missouri were 21% proficient or above on the MAP exam, and in 2021, they were only 15% proficient, compared to their White counterparts, who were 50% proficient in 2019 and 46% proficient in 2021 (Sireno & Bates, 2022). Likewise, a summary of the educational data from Kansas City metro area schools uncovers alarming parallels: Black

students are positioned at the bottom of the academic ladder in each system, and a comprehensive solution to address this issue has yet to be developed (Hill, 2021).

On the other side of the state line, Kansas school districts have been unable to effectively address the widening achievement gaps and improve results for minority and low-income students despite receiving \$3.8 billion in at-risk money from Kansas taxpayers since 2015 (Trabert, 2023). Simultaneously, achievement gaps for Kansas students still exist despite numerous Kansas school districts implementing diversity, equity, and inclusion training to enhance outcomes for minority students and narrow achievement gaps (Trabert, 2023). Kansas City Kansas Public Schools exhibits significantly lower state assessment scores compared to neighboring districts, encompassing all student populations as well as each subgroup (Dorsey, 2022). In KCK, 64% of students performed below grade level in math, and 54.8% performed below grade level in reading (Dorsey, 2022). In mathematics, 74.8% of Black students performed below grade level, and in reading, 62.7% of Black students performed below grade level (Dorsey, 2022). These numbers are much higher than those of all neighboring districts (Dorsey, 2022). Ultimately, the situation is significantly worse for Black students, and since The Kansas public school system maintains structural segregation—a kind of educational redlining—remains prevalent and is shielded by stringent school district boundaries (Dorsey, 2022).

Suburban Educational Experience of Black Female Students

The study of school-based discrimination experiences of Black females is limited due to their often exclusion based on the scholarly research on girls and the mechanisms of gender in education (Leath et al., 2019). Likewise, "concern over the status of Black

males in education (although important and warranted), along with Black girls' relatively higher academic achievement and attainment outcomes, can result in under examination of Black girls' educational processes" (Leath et al., 2019, pp. 1323-1324). Furthermore, for these reasons, the following section illustrates the state of Black female representation in the educational space, including their classroom experiences, books and resources in the library, teacher representation, and student representation.

Classroom Experiences

"Schools are a microcosm of society" (LoGalbo, 2023, p. 20). The prevailing cultural influence in the majority of suburban schools is White culture, making it crucial to examine the context of primarily White institutions concerning Black students (Chambers et al., 2014). Suburban American schools are firmly rooted in White culture, as the clear majority of educators are White (LoGalbo, 2023). Moreover, to the detriment of the Black female student, the school environment has been significantly impacted by societal perceptions of Black females, which have manifested themselves in the form of treatment and discipline (Billingsley, 2018). Black females are also often subjected to microaggressions, which are "subtle insults (verbal, nonverbal, and/or visual) directed toward people of color, often automatically or unconsciously" (Solorzano et al., 2000, p. 60).

Academic Disparities. According to Brown (2020), Black students face unique academic challenges and typically achieve lower academic achievement than their White counterparts. Extensive documentation exists regarding the disparity in educational achievement and attainment between Black and White individuals (Archer-Banks & Behar-Horenstein, 2012; Ogbu, 2003). Empirical investigations revealed that instructors'

expectations are often lower for Black females than for White females, and as a result, White teachers tended to criticize the attitudes and behaviors of Black females harshly or unfavorably, ultimately affecting their social identity and self-concept (Anderson, 2020). Numerous disadvantages experienced by Black students at the secondary level have been documented by researchers, encompassing aspects such as course placement, disciplinary measures, and college readiness (Archer-Banks & Behar-Horenstein, 2012). One hypothesis that has persisted since the late 1960s posits that the substandard academic achievement of Black students can be attributed to conflicts and disparities between Black and White American cultures (Ogbu, 2003).

Nevertheless, for Black females to be successful academically, they must contend with racial and gender discrimination, in addition to bias from school personnel (Archer-Banks & Behar-Horenstein, 2012). However, it has been documented that one coping mechanism Black females use as a self-protective response to deal with stress from racial and gendered experiences is to disengage with educational activities (Keels, 2019), exasperating academic disparities.

The well-documented disparity between the privileged knowledge, skills, language, and dispositions of White students in school settings and those experienced by non-dominant populations in their home environments is a significant factor in the ongoing inequities that plague our public schools (Joseph et al., 2016). The failure to address these issues, despite a national tendency toward colorblind racism, perpetuates racism and racist outcomes (Joseph et al., 2016). The prevailing colorblind culture observed in our educational institutions, policies, and methods of teacher preparation

sustains the advantage of whiteness and encourages discriminatory behaviors (Joseph et al., 2016).

Teacher referrals for gifted programs are more likely to favor White students, affecting Black females' representation in gifted programs (LoGalbo, 2023). It has been found that Black students face underrepresentation in gifted education due to barriers like teacher referrals, differential assessment performance, outdated policies, and social-emotional concerns (LoGalbo, 2023). Additionally, while Black students are underrepresented in gifted and talented programs offered by schools, they are over-represented in special education programs (Tabron & Chambers, 2019).

Despite these barriers, scholars have emphasized how Black female students express themselves in reaction to their schools' social and institutional structures and cultures, which differ according to the influence of socioeconomic class, gender, race, and ethnicity (Andrews, 2009). This more recent corpus of studies focuses on the capacity of Black female high achievers to keep their racial and ethnic identities while achieving academic success, as these students have figured out how to be both "ethnic" and accomplished simultaneously (Andrews, 2009). Additionally, it has been found that Black females who have acquired the ability to objectively engage with individuals from the dominant group while also acknowledging and affirming their own group's identity tend to experience higher levels of self-esteem (Anderson, 2020).

Disciplinary Disparities. Negative stereotypes that characterize Black women as asexual, lustful, irrational, and submissive have been perpetuated so often that people tend to accept them as inevitable, normal, and natural (Toliver, 2018). Scholars have endeavored to deconstruct these oppressive portrayals in favor of a more nuanced

understanding of Black womanhood (Toliver, 2018). However, the negative portrayal of Black female existence is so embedded in American culture that negative stereotypes still haunt a variety of publications, including books, magazines, music videos, and movies (Toliver, 2018). Many academics have maintained that stereotypes that produce harmful limitations and blatant misrepresentations of Black female identities also mislead society's perception of Black females (Toliver, 2018). Due to these misconceptions of Black girlhood, Black womanhood and Black girlhood are interchangeable, resulting in a type of age compression where young Black females are compared more to adults than to children (Toliver, 2018). In a study on the adultification of Black females, Epstein et al. (2017) revealed disturbing disparities in the disciplinary inequalities in the school system and beyond due to adultification, which is defined as "a social or cultural stereotype that is based on how adults perceive children in the absence of knowledge of children's behavior and verbalizations" (p. 4). The results of the study revealed that as young as five years old, Black females were found to be perceived as older, possessing a greater understanding of mature subjects, such as sexuality, and being more inclined to take on adult duties and obligations than their age-appropriate expectations (Epstein et al., 2017). As a consequence of adultification, Black females are more likely to be kicked out of school for subjective reasons like disobeying the rules, acting badly, or third-degree assault, which are determined by school personnel's judgment (Epstein et al., 2017). Bottiani et al.'s (2018) findings suggested that cultural norms, biases, race, ethnicity, culture, and gender can lead to disparities in exclusionary disciplinary actions. Morris (2018) described how Black females internalize this:

As children or adults, Black girls are treated as if they are supposed to 'know better' or at least 'act like' they know...Black women and girls in America are subjected to dormant assumptions about their sexuality, their 'anger' or their 'attitude.' They have long understood that their way of engaging with the world-how they talk, how they walk, how they wear their hair, or how they hold their bodies- is subject to scrutiny, especially by those in positions of relative power. They feel the gaze. They intuit its presence. They live with this knowledge in their bodies and subconsciously wrestle with every personal critique of how they navigate their environments. (pp. 34-35)

When an educational institution primarily relies on exclusionary disciplinary actions, the potential for implementing alternative forms of accountability becomes constrained (Morris, 2019). The nomenclature and physical architecture of school infrastructure and atmosphere may resemble criminal legal systems (Morris, 2019). Under the cover of safety and racial neutrality, schools have adopted strict punishment measures that disproportionately affect Black adolescents, intercepting youth at pivotal moments in their lives (Cumi et al., 2017). The phrase "school-to-prison pipeline" frequently describes this issue (Cumi et al., 2017). Throughout the United States, there exists a notable disparity in the inclusion of Black females in restorative practices and disciplinary alternatives, as they are often deemed to exhibit more defiance or willful disruption within the educational setting based on subjective evaluations (Morris, 2019).

The implementation of school discipline has been utilized to suppress the energy and liveliness of Black girls, resulting in a deliberate suppression of their inner core and can have enduring consequences on the psychological and spiritual welfare of Black

females, even without physical confinement (Hines & Wilmot, 2018). Black females who survive life-threatening confrontations with educators, school resource officers, and administrators may be confined to classrooms that serve as metaphorical prisons, suppressing their freedom, resilience, and happiness (Hines & Wilmot, 2018).

Martin (2022) interviewed Black students attending suburban schools in the Kansas City metro area for an article about racial bullying. One Black female student reported that when she was in kindergarten, she had a meltdown in the classroom, which resulted in seven police officers escorting her to the principal's office. She reported that she experienced other traumatic experiences in school, "a place that was supposed to be safe" (Martin, 2022, para. 5). Appleseed Network (2020) analyzed in-school suspensions, out-of-school suspensions, and expulsions data for Black females in the state of Kansas. Appleseed Network (2020) found that "Black female students were roughly 6.2 times more likely to be disciplined than White female students" (pp. 1-2). In Kansas alone, Black females were "4.3 times more likely to receive at least one in-school suspension, 8.3 times more likely to receive at least one out of school suspension, and 13.8 times more likely to be expelled" compared to their White female counterparts (Appleseed Network, 2020, p. 5). Because excluding Black females from school has negative effects on their social lives, it is essential to find ways to fix and lessen unfair ways of disciplining students (Blake et al., 2010).

To Black females, "school becomes an inhospitable place where Black girls receive mixed messages about femininity and goodness and are held to unreasonable standards" (Andrews et al., 2019, pp. 2531-2532). Black females are frequently confined to environments that fail to adequately foster their academic and personal growth (Kaur,

2020). However, when confronting these discipline disparities, Bottiani et al. (2018) note that White educators often experience discomfort when it comes to addressing issues related to racism, impeding progress in efforts to narrow the discipline disparity gap.

Books and Resources in the Library and the Classroom

Unsurprisingly, educational institutions significantly impact Black females' life trajectories (Morris, 2018). Prior study results provided evidence that public schools can frequently create oppressive environments for Black and Brown students since they are typically subjected to the implicit biases of teachers and encounter curriculum and teaching methods that fail to address their social, emotional, cultural, and intellectual requirements (Kelly, 2020). Using "counter-hegemonic and abolitionist literacy practices" that prioritize the inclusion of Black females in the curriculum is crucial for their academic success and overall well-being within the educational system (Anderson, 2022, p. 22). Research findings have demonstrated that Black females exhibit significant literacy skills beyond formal educational settings (Anderson, 2022). Yet, the elementary and secondary school curricula often fail to consider Black females' unique needs and experiences (Morris, 2018).

Textbooks are the primary resource for instructing students (Haynes et al., 2016). However, recent criticism has focused on the prominence of Western European life histories in textbooks, casting a shadow on others (Haynes et al., 2016). For example, American history textbooks often contain sanitized dialogue surrounding the colonization of the United States, highlighting Columbus's discovery of North America and establishing Western European culture as the official culture (Haynes et al., 2016). Numerous scholarly investigations conducted in the past 30 years have examined the

representation of women in mainstream texts (Schocker & Woyshner, 2013). The findings of these studies have provided evidence that a limited number of women are consistently featured, and the portrayals of these women tend to align with conservative political ideologies (Schocker & Woyshner, 2013). The aforementioned analyses indicate that Black women are largely underrepresented in mainstream U.S. high school history textbooks, aligning with previous research on the absence of diversity in educational materials (Schocker & Woyshner, 2013). The school curriculum, influenced by predominantly White pedagogy and framework, has prioritized Eurocentric ideals and images (Hill, 2023). The prioritization of Eurocentric ideals and images in the curriculum has impacted how Black female students perceive the type of learning that is regarded as most significant in classroom circumstances (Hill, 2023). When Black students are repeatedly placed in school settings that prioritize and promote the study of White history and narratives, the history and tales of Black communities and individuals are suppressed and downplayed (Hill, 2023). Black female students have not been exposed to educational settings that have traditionally supported and honored their own historical experiences and representation in the curriculum (Hill, 2023).

As a result, White female educators who use Eurocentric literature as a universal subject routinely overlook the reading habits and literacy skills of Black females in the classroom (Anderson, 2022). Thus, a change in the reading curriculum and teaching methods can only happen when experts and teachers explore the inexplicable fact that Black females do poorly in reading tests even though they love reading and have literacy-rich lives (Anderson, 2022). A big part of this confusion comes from the fact that Black females find it hard to connect the reading and writing habits they use every day, which

are shaped by their culture and identity, with the reading and writing rules they need to follow in school to be proficient and successful (Anderson, 2022). The results of a 2018 analysis of children's books indicate that there were more children's novels with animal and other non-human characters than all other sorts of visible minorities combined (Lewis, 2023). Concurrently, White children were featured in half of all the children's novels reviewed (Lewis, 2023). The portrayal of individuals in literature, especially the roles they assume, can significantly influence children's perceptions of the roles they and others can or cannot assume (Adukia et al., 2021). In light of enduring racial and gender disparities within society, as well as the significant role that identity and representation play in shaping ideas, goals, academic dedication, and achievements, these portrayals serve as a crucial avenue via which core societal inequities can be either confronted, perpetuated, or solidified (Adukia et al., 2021).

In 2020, the literacy rate for females in the United States was 53.7 %, which was 21.6 % lower than the literacy rate for males, which stood at 75.3 % (Lueken et al., 2022). Research emphasizes that Black women who do not acquire fundamental literacy skills during their formative years within the public education system "have less opportunity for intellectual advancement, creating a vulnerable multi-generational situation for women when they become mothers and cannot help their own children to learn to read and write" (Lueken et al., 2022, p. 1). Offspring of individuals with low literacy are highly probable (72%) to possess even lower levels of reading proficiency (Lueken et al., 2022). Therefore, the issue with Black females and literacy skills underscores the ongoing need for the American education system to address the political

and pedagogical barriers that hinder the attainment of liberation from this enduring struggle.

Rodick (2023) pointed out that progress in expanding the range of subjects taught and increasing the level of intellectual challenge has been sluggish and unfinished. The majority of schools in the United States lack a curriculum that accurately represents the diverse backgrounds of its students or delves into a wide range of opinions regarding our intricate U.S. history (Rodick, 2023). Black history is allocated a mere 8% of the overall class time in most history classrooms (Rodick, 2023). Efforts have been made by publishers, state boards, districts, and educators to enhance inclusivity in curricula. However, a significant amount of work remains to ensure that all students receive a comprehensive and intellectually challenging education that adequately prepares them for higher education and beyond (Rodick, 2023). Currently, there are restrictions in 18 states regarding the discussion of race and gender identity in schools (Rodick, 2023). The rationale behind censorship in these jurisdictions is that education has exceeded acceptable limits—that K-12 education exhibits excessive diversity and includes several opinions, particularly those that contradict conservative rhetoric (Rodick, 2023).

If schools use curricula that omit the existence of Black females from the bold account of American exceptionalism, they are tacitly formulating a narrative of marginalization (Morris, 2018). This exclusion narrative raises questions about how Black females situate themselves as Americans and global citizens (Morris, 2018). The inclusion of Black females in educational materials is critical to their well-being and academic success (Anderson, 2022). The curriculum should, above all, incorporate culturally sensitive instruction that honors the diversity of cultural identities. Contextual

learning, a communal and cultural library, and the development of teacher-student relationships should all be included (Skeffrey, 2022). However, despite scholarly efforts, the lack of adequate representation of Black intellectualism and dedication to education in K-20 curricula and education studies continues to exist (Andrews, 2019).

Teacher Representation

Teachers who support and encourage students, especially when they face problems, can significantly improve their academic performance, motivation, and self-perception (Cumi et al., 2017). This positive correlation exists between students' perceptions of teacher support and expectations and their overall academic performance (Cumi et al., 2017). Educators are often the "first responders to students in crisis," requiring them to embrace the whole child in holistic learning, "not only subject matter but also who they are and what they contribute to their communities," and to foster positive learning communities, it is crucial to have at least one adult on campus as a "safe person" for students, who can support them during crises and collaborate with educators to promote inclusion (Morris, 2022, p. 7). Black students who experienced excellent social interactions ascribed them to their teacher's unwavering dedication to fostering relationships (Elliott-Schrimmer, 2023). Ultimately, cultivating strong teacher-student and student-student relationships is crucial for fostering a sense of belonging among Black students in the AP English class (Elliott-Schrimmer, 2023.)

However, in schools, "African American students rarely walk into a classroom and have a teacher of the same race" (LoGalbo, 2023, pp. 20-21). The findings of a National Teacher and Principal Survey conducted by the National Center for Education Statistics (2021) showed that in the 2020-2021 school year, 91.3% of Missouri full-time

and part-time public school teachers were White and non-Hispanic, 1% were Hispanic (of any race), 4.6% were Black and non-Hispanic, 1.7% were two or more races and non-Hispanic, and less than 1% were Asian and non-Hispanic, Native Hawaiian/Pacific Islander, non-Hispanic and American Indian/Alaska Native, non-Hispanic. The same survey results indicate that in the 2020-2021 school year, 92.3% of Kansas full-time and part-time public-school teachers were White and non-Hispanic, 4.2% were Hispanic (of any race), 1.4% were Black and non-Hispanic, and less than 1% were Asian and non-Hispanic, Native Hawaiian/Pacific Islander, non-Hispanic, two or more races and non-Hispanic, and American Indian/Alaska Native, non-Hispanic (National Center for Education Statistics, 2021). Teacher-student racial matching is associated with gains in student achievement, reductions in absences and suspensions, a decrease in high school dropouts, and improvements in college enrollment (Scherer & Cleveland, 2022). Because Black students' academic performance is significantly influenced by their relationships with teachers, cultural conflicts in the student-teacher relationship can be problematic, leading to more criticism and less teacher support (Morris, 2018). Nevertheless, White instructors who possess limited prior experience or comprehensive multicultural training are more likely to instruct Black youth (Leath et al., 2019). Yet, in Elliott-Schrimmer's (2023) study, Black students disclosed that being taught by a teacher who is at a more advanced stage in their White identity development fosters an atmosphere that enhances their likelihood of achieving success (Elliott-Schrimmer, 2023). While everyone should also strive to comprehend their own racial identity, it is crucial for teachers to have a deep understanding of the intricacies of racism and to constantly educate themselves on how to actively oppose racism (Elliott-Schrimmer, 2023).

Since scholarly concern has centered around Blackness and masculinity, there is much to learn about the Black female's educational experience (Morris, 2007). Because of this, Morris (2007) emphasized the importance of the intersectionality theory and how it can assist in understanding the multidimensional depth of the Black female's educational experience. Morris (2007) defined intersectionality as the "combinations, or intersections, of important modes of social advantage and disadvantage" (p. 491) and denotes that people experience modalities such as race, class, and gender in varied degrees and combinations, thus affecting the environmental experience. Accordingly, "in many schools, Black girls learn that to succeed, they must reform their self-presentation to be more like their (real or imagined) White, middle-class counterparts" (Ispa-Landa, 2013, p. 221). "Consequently, students whose cultural experiences are different from the teachers may not be able to use them as a resource if the educators operate from their own cultural ways of knowing" (Brown, 2020, p. 24). Cultural conflicts can lead to an oppositional environment where educators attempt to implement their cultural norms onto students while students resist their attempts to control them (Brown, 2020). Furthermore, the lack of understanding of Black female challenges in school settings leads to "mischaracterizations of their attitudes, abilities, achievements, and overall existence" (Andrews et al., 2019, p. 2532). Given the distinct intersections of race, gender, class, and ability that Black females occupy, it is imperative to direct attention toward their experiences, mainly how educators see their aptitude and potential (Anderson, 2020).

In its broadest meaning, language is the most prevalent kind of symbolic violence and serves as the domain in which suffering is not alone misidentified but is also acknowledged and valued within society (Fordham, 2016). According to Frederic's

(2022) observations, educators made inaccurate assessments of Black females when they openly expressed themselves using a linguistic and cultural style that they deemed natural and genuine to them. Also, the assertiveness displayed by young Black females in their speech or mannerisms was frequently seen by teachers as lacking in refinement, confrontational, or disobedient (Frederic, 2022). As a result, Black females were often denied the opportunity to fully explore and embrace their true growth into womanhood due to the scrutiny and questioning of their own identities (Frederic, 2022). The efforts made by Black females to express their perspectives were frequently misinterpreted or disregarded, leading certain educators to perceive them as lacking intelligence and incapable of engaging in insightful discussions (Frederic, 2022). However, it is important to recognize that the unique experiences and linguistic choices of Black females should not be viewed negatively or disapproved of by educators and fellow students (Frederic, 2022).

Scherer and Cleveland (2022) conducted a study with middle school students in Boston and found that matching Black female students with approximately one additional Black female teacher resulted in a reduction of their absence for the year by almost 4.2%. The researchers also found that demographic matching enhances individual motivation and interpersonal dynamics among students (Scherer & Cleveland, 2022). Students may have improved outcomes when they are exposed to a professional staff that is more diverse (Scherer & Cleveland, 2022).

According to Hubbard (2005), who examined highly successful Black students enrolled in an Advancement Via Individual Determination program at a public high school, Black females reported discriminatory behavior from their school counselors.

Many individuals reported that a counselor persistently informed them that they would not gain admission to a prestigious university by providing them with information about vocational schools or community colleges instead of guiding them toward four-year universities (Hubbard, 2005). Ultimately, school counselors who do not give Black females the information and opportunities to enroll in all colleges contribute to these unfair policies and have an impact on Black females' chances of gaining college admission (Archer-Banks & Behar-Horenstein, 2012).

Student Representation

U.S. scholars argue that racial diversity enhances Black students' engagement in predominantly White institutions despite potential positive outcomes for racial minorities (Chapman & Bhopal, 2019). Frankenberg et al. (2019) reported that in 2016, suburban schools in major metropolitan areas had only 47% White students, a 10-percentage point decline in a decade; about one-seventh were Black; and one-fourth were Latino. Nationally, White students now make up less than half of public-school enrollment, a decrease of eight percentage points from 2006, yet remain the most segregated group (Frankenberg et al., 2019). White students, despite decreasing population, still attend schools with nearly seven out of 10 classmates being White, despite less segregation with same-race peers (Frankenberg et al., 2019). Cobb (2023) conducted a study that compared statistics in three districts in the Kansas City metro area. Cobb (2023) compared the minority enrollment of KCPS (89%) and Raytown Schools (75%) to the minority enrollment of Lee's Summit Schools (26%) and found that KCPS and Raytown School District serve the majority of minority students. Segregation is still prevalent, with Black and Latinx students attending non-White schools while White students attended

White-majority schools (Frankenberg et al., 2019). According to the survey results from Harvard University, parents who are White and come from privileged backgrounds evaluated the quality of a school based on the number of other White, advantaged parents who enroll their children in that particular institution (Samuels, 2020). Integrated schools are often perceived as academically substandard despite the paradoxical acknowledgment by parents of their inherent worth in a conceptual sense (Samuels, 2020).

Within a school context, it is common for peer networks of the same race to congregate in particular physical areas (Carter, 2007). In educational environments where racial desegregation has taken place, Black adolescents not only experience racism and engage in self-reflection over their identity, but their White peers, even if they are not directly responsible for perpetuating racism, also lack the necessary preparation to provide helpful responses (Carter, 2007). Furthermore, "many elementary schools have self-contained classrooms where children of varying performance levels learn together, [and] many middle and secondary schools assign students to different subject levels based on their perceived ability, a practice known as tracking" (Tatum, 2017, p. 159). Although administrators may argue that these processes are fair and unbiased, there is often a noticeable racial pattern in the assignment of pupils, resulting in a system that provides certain advantages (Tatum, 2017). According to Keels (2019), Black females are cognizant of the influence that their White counterparts exert on them to think, act, and interact per preconceived notions regarding the nature of Black womanhood.

Therefore, Black students have had to rely on each other to obtain the essential support they need (Carter, 2007). This form of support manifests as racial clustering in specific physical regions inside a school. Despite this, all students have the capacity to

actively contribute towards reducing the sense of marginalization experienced by Black female students (Jones-Malone, 2011). This contribution can be achieved by cultivating an awareness of the social and academic challenges prevalent by simply learning about the environment (Jones-Malone, 2011).

Black Females' Perceptions of Suburban High Schools

Eggleston and Miranda (2009) conducted a qualitative study at a large Midwestern high school about the impact of the residential region (predominantly White suburban or predominantly Black urban). Eleven Black female students were interviewed regarding their perspectives of race and how it shapes their understanding of what it means to be a Black woman. Students expressed that they felt that while most of the teachers were supportive, some Black students did not respect the teachers and could not expect reciprocation (Eggleston & Miranda, 2009). All students agreed that they would like to see more teachers of color and felt that they could not connect as well to someone of another race (Eggleston & Miranda, 2009). Furthermore, students felt that by participating in Advanced Placement courses and some extracurricular activities, their Black peers would view them as being White or there are no other Black females involved (Eggleston & Miranda, 2009). Students expressed that there was a lack of representation of Black culture in their schools, and support for Black issues was nonexistent (Eggleston & Miranda, 2009). The students also expressed the different expectations of behavior in school and from their families, stereotypes, difficulties having friends of different races, and having dating issues (Eggleston & Miranda, 2009).

Marsh (2013) interviewed nine Black females who were seniors at a science and math focused high school in a suburb on a college campus in the western region of the

United States. The study participants preserved a portion of their "Blackness" identity by actively searching out homogeneous, predominately Black social groups while accommodating school-mandated multicultural work groups (Marsh, 2013). The students established a unique collegial network that integrated gender and race in order to maintain their dual identities, showing that despite being in an interracial environment, a space was created for them to express their Blackness as young women (Marsh, 2013). Participation in and membership in social organizations preserved these young women's "Blackness" and femininity (Marsh, 2013). The conscious interaction and communal support that these students cultivated contribute to a reduction in psychological issues and an improvement in their psychological well-being (Marsh, 2013).

Neal-Jackson (2018) conducted a meta-ethnographic review of the experiences of K-12 Black female students. Black female students frequently encounter diminished expectations from school administrators and educators, who presume their ethnicity and gender result in limited academic capabilities (Neal-Jackson, 2018). Despite their enrollment in advanced courses, Black female students perceive themselves as being unjustly disadvantaged in their quest for academic and professional achievement (Neal-Jackson, 2018). In order to bolster their drive, certain individuals establish academic communities with fellow Black female students who possess the same ambitions (Neal-Jackson, 2018). Nevertheless, creating and sustaining these networks might prove challenging as a result of strained social dynamics with peers, perceived social groups, and divergent attitudes toward education (Neal-Jackson, 2018). Certain students choose to engage in academic communities to minimize social interaction and the spread of rumors during study periods (Neal-Jackson, 2018). Notwithstanding these obstacles,

Black female students highly esteem education as a vehicle for self-improvement, the well-being of their families, and the advancement of their communities (Neal-Jackson, 2018). School officials frequently perceive the conduct of Black female students through the lens of stereotypes, disregarding their academic requirements and neglecting their ethnic identities (Neal-Jackson, 2018). Students also voiced discontent with a curriculum that fails to integrate Black culture or history (Neal-Jackson, 2018).

Billingsley (2018) conducted a qualitative study examining the experiences of Black female students attending predominately White schools in the suburbs of St. Louis as desegregation students in the Voluntary Inter-District Choice Corporation (VICC). According to Billingsley (2018), the VICC program is in charge of overseeing the operation of the metropolitan area desegregation program, facilitating transfers of city students to suburban school districts and suburban students to city magnet schools. Out of the 10 girls interviewed, most of them reported being consistently asked by other members of their school community if they lived within the school district boundaries and reported being irritated by the frequency of others asking (Billingsley, 2018). The girls belonged to the school community but were receiving messages from other members of the school community that they did not belong there (Billingsley, 2018).

All girls expressed that they believed their future was positively impacted by attending a predominately White school because of the activities and classes for students that would prepare them for college (Billingsley, 2018). Their families knew how difficult it was for their daughters as minority members of the student population but felt the "pros outweighed the cons, especially since lots of schools have problems" (Billingsley, 2018, p. 99). Each girl felt she had been subjected to prejudice due to the

perception that their White peers were more privileged and experienced greater authority and opportunities, including experiencing the use of racist language and microaggressions from their peers (Billingsley, 2018). The girls also talked about shifting their identities based on their environment, utilizing codeswitching, while actively searching for affinity while being the only Black student or part of a few in their classes and afterschool activities (Billingsley, 2018). All girls spoke about the lack of representation in the teaching staff and how they needed teachers who looked like them (Billingsley, 2018). They also spoke about unfair disciplinary processes and consequences, citing that they felt targeted and under surveillance (Billingsley, 2018).

One participant in this study was a member of a group at her school geared toward Black girls and led by two Black female educators (Billingsley, 2018). She expressed that the group served as a safe space where she and other group members were open to speaking about any topic of choice and not be judged (Billingsley, 2018). She also expressed that she did not believe that the group was a part of the school because it was not a "high level activity" like football or soccer (Billingsley, 2018, p. 116).

Social-Emotional Learning Framework

The CASEL Organization is a non-profit created in 1994 to integrate excellent, data-supported SEL into the curriculum from pre-kindergarten through secondary school (CASEL, 2023b). CASEL partners co-authored a book to define SEL for educators as a guideline to integrate SEL into the existing curriculum (CASEL, 2023b). By 2004, Illinois became the first state to adopt SEL standards, tools to implement SEL in schools were released in 2006, and the first legislative act to support SEL implementation in schools was introduced in 2009 (CASEL, 2023b). In 2020, the framework was updated to

emphasize that equality and excellence are crucial practices when implementing SEL curriculums and that the framework applies to all students regardless of color, ethnicity, socioeconomic situation, learning ability, immigration status, English proficiency, gender identity, or sexual orientation (CASEL, 2023b).

In a recent meta-analysis conducted by Cipriano et al. (2023), indications of improved school climate, student engagement, and teacher-student relationships have been found in schools after the administration of SEL programs. Students also experienced improved academic achievement, social-emotional skills, attitudes, and peer relationships (Cipriano et al., 2023). Overall, the researchers found significant evidence supporting the efficacy of SEL interventions for students in schools across the globe (Cipriano et al., 2023).

Although SEL has been one of the most prominent educational trends since 2013, more recently, it has been an explosive point in cultural conflicts (Barshay, 2023). Proponents of social-emotional learning have cited hundreds of studies demonstrating that SEL instruction boosts student well-being and academic achievement (Barshay, 2023). The findings from Barshay's (2023) meta-analysis indicate that SEL programs in schools worked well, and they also widened the definition of social and emotional learning to include even more skills unrelated to schoolwork.

One of the significant criticisms was that White psychologists were using SEL lessons in an attempt to improve the lives of Black and Brown students instead of changing the racist structures that kept all students from succeeding (Barshay, 2023). Parent groups and some legislators blame schools for threatening student privacy and exploiting SEL to advance progressive views on race, gender, and sexuality (Field, 2022).

Additional criticism of SEL programs is from other legislators saying that more time should be spent catching students up academically and saying there is no time in the school day for SEL and academic work (Field, 2022).

Missouri is the most recent state to face strong opposition to its plans to teach SEL in schools after adopting K-12 SEL standards to combat classroom misbehavior (Stanford & Prothero, 2023). After submitting the proposed guidelines to the public for feedback, the public expressed concern in the comments that SEL could be used to justify diversity, equity, and inclusion curricula, permit schools to interfere with parental responsibilities, and require teachers to practice psychology without a license (Stanford & Prothero, 2023). After over 2,000 public submissions revealed SEL uncertainty and concerns, state education authorities cut back and reinterpreted the planned socialemotional learning requirements as a non-binding, optional framework (Stanford & Prothero, 2023). SEL supporters, including many teachers, say that addressing students' social and emotional needs now can speed academic recovery by improving stress management and teacher-student connections (Field, 2022). SEL supporters also claim that confusion with academic jargon can unintentionally cause misunderstanding when referring to components of SEL (Field, 2022; Stanford & Prothero, 2023). Ultimately, CASEL organization representatives expressed concern that the politicization of SEL might discourage state politicians from providing funding to assist districts' efforts in this area, depriving teachers of the means to teach SEL using the most up-to-date research and techniques (Stanford & Prothero, 2023).

Lohmann (2023) investigated Black high school students' beliefs and attitudes after being enrolled in their first year of social-emotional learning at a Midwestern high

school. The majority of students felt they could better relate to their classmates, comprehend the viewpoints of others, express their own opinions, and experience less isolation (Lohmann, 2023). Many students recounted that the SEL lessons helped them better manage their emotions, and most expressed their growth in emotional and coping skills (Lohmann, 2023). One Black female student in the study expressed that "content from the SEL class is relevant in their culture because [the] skills taught in that class should be used when talking to anyone, regardless of their cultural background" (Lohmann, 2023, p. 40). Another Black female student concurred that the SEL curriculum is crucial for their culture to equip them for potential adverse encounters stemming from their circumstances (Lohmann, 2023). Yet, since there is scarce research surrounding this matter, the success of SEL programs for students from diverse backgrounds cannot be presumed without proper reporting and analysis of relevant data (Lohmann, 2023).

SEL Implications for Black Females

Most recently, the Black Lives Matter Movement emerged in cities like Baltimore, New York, and Ferguson, seeking to challenge unjust laws, policies, and beliefs that diminish the lives of Black people, uplift Black people, and oppose post-racial ideologies (Patton et al., 2016). It was a unified front against police brutality, racial profiling, and the criminalization of Black bodies (Patton et al., 2016). However, the movement primarily focuses on Black men and boys, even though Black females experience "police brutality, state surveillance, and predatory enforcement of regulatory laws" at the same disproportionate rates (Patton et al., 2016, p. 194). The researchers pointed out that "the

'state of emergency' discourse surrounding Black boys and men is often juxtaposed with the 'invisibility' discourse of Black women and girls' (Patton et al., 2016, p. 194).

In recent years, there has been an increase in studies and programs aimed exclusively at helping Black men succeed in college, correlating with "scholarly neglect of Black women and girls" (Patton et al., 2016, p. 194). Unfortunately, the experiences of Black females are often rendered invisible in several unacknowledged manners including within the context of their educational experiences (Patton et al., 2016). Black females are socialized early to assume a subordinate status in schools, with classroom teaching often criticized for establishing color lines and using racially coded language to set White femininity as the acceptable standard, putting Black females' actions, choices, and appearance under surveillance by teachers and classmates (Haynes et al., 2016). There are indications that currently available SEL programs do not adequately service Black students; nonetheless, there is a lack of empirical research exploring this topic (Lohmann, 2023). Furthermore, SEL may exhibit bias in the curriculum and implementation processes as a result of their racial and gender-neutral approach (Scott, 2023). These factors raise concerns about the applicability and effectiveness of SEL programs in diverse cultural contexts (Scott, 2023). Particularly for Black females, who face sexism and other forms of school discipline already, this is a major cause for alarm (Scott, 2023).

Opportunities to Learn

Federal policy in the U.S. is crucial in establishing the necessary framework to ensure that SEL is implemented statewide and district-wide for the benefit of all students (CASEL, 2023c). In 2021, President Biden signed the American Rescue Plan Act to provide immediate and direct relief to the American people in response to the COVID-19

pandemic (The White House, 2021). Out of the monies allocated, \$123 billion was allocated to schools, bringing a unique and unparalleled prospect for investing in SEL programs (CASEL, 2023c).

To date, 27 states have implemented SEL competencies for grades K-12, while all 50 states have embraced SEL competencies for pre-K education (CASEL, 2023d). In 2021, an interactive online state scan by The Education Trust and CASEL was released to review each state's current policies and provide insight into how each state prioritizes social, educational, and academic development (CASEL, 2023d). This SEL state scan can also assist with finding trends in the data and point out the most important policies that states should adopt to make things work (CASEL, 2023d).

In Missouri, the state has not outlawed corporal punishment, does not forbid exclusionary discipline for any reason (including an explanation of the prohibition of discriminatory hair or grooming codes), does not provide guidance or funding for any restorative justice efforts, and does not provide guidance or funding for professional development in positive discipline practices (The Education Trust, 2021). Missouri lacks dedicated staff and funding for teacher preparation programs that integrate students' social, emotional, and academic development but requires teacher preparation programs to provide training (The Education Trust, 2021). The state has set goals for equitably enrolling students in advanced coursework but lacks specific actions, such as providing all students access to college preparatory coursework (The Education Trust, 2021). No funding has been issued for selecting standards-aligned curricula (The Education Trust, 2021). While Missouri's ESSA and strategic plan refer to student, family, and community

engagement, they fail to elaborate on how school districts can implement evidence-based practices or provide professional development (The Education Trust, 2021).

In Kansas, policies regarding exclusionary discipline mirror Missouri policy, but Kansas does provide guidance for implementing positive discipline in schools (The Education Trust, 2021). However, Kansas, in contrast to Missouri, has a well-defined, attainable objective for professional development that seeks to address adult mindsets and provide educators with the tools they need to promote student success, and has people dedicated to providing guidance and technical assistance when providing professional development (The Education Trust, 2021). Kansas requires teacher preparation programs to provide training for programs that integrate students' social, emotional, and academic development but does not require the programs to confront adult mentalities (The Education Trust, 2021). Kansas has a student-led state-level advisory council that assists in making state-level decisions (The Education Trust, 2021).

Missouri has ultimately decided to make implementing SEL programs optional and non-obligatory in response to growing political criticism (Stanford & Prothero, 2023). In contrast, Kansas maintains its commitment to the effective implementation of SEL through the alignment of SEL competencies with contemporary standards, active stakeholder engagement, and assistance in ensuring students' achievement (CASEL, 2023a). Kansas created a plan for school implementation to "develop and track students' social and emotional learning as an indicator of student success within accountability models" (Neuenswander, 2021).

Social-Emotional Confidence

The term "cultural imperialism" refers to the practice of imposing one group's values and traditions on other people around the world (O'Garro Joseph, 2007). The fundamental unfairness of cultural imperialism is that the dominant culture impresses its own understanding of social life on the oppressed group, while the former is unable to communicate its own understanding of social life to the dominant culture (O'Garro Joseph, 2007). Throughout their academic careers, Black female students face cultural imperialism and develop a toolbox full of techniques to overcome it (O'Garro Joseph, 2007). Some Black girls clash with school norms as they struggle to form and express their identities (O'Garro Joseph, 2007). In contrast, others go silent, giving up important relationships with family and friends to succeed academically (O'Garro Joseph, 2007). Their silence can be confused with a lack of confidence by peers and educators.

In a recent U.S. study, Hinkelman (2023) revealed that the overall percentage of girls' confidence fell from 68% to 55% from their 2017 report, with fewer girls reporting higher confidence levels in Grades 5-11. High levels of pressure were reported among these females, with 76% feeling under tremendous pressure from grades, school, friendships, and family issues (Hinkelman, 2023). Of the respondents, 65% indicated they did not feel good about their bodies as much as they used to, and their confidence dropped when they spent more time on social media (Hinkelman, 2023). On the other hand, females who feel a sense of belonging at school were seven times more likely to be confident, and females who attended schools where they could express themselves authentically had higher confidence (Hinkelman, 2023). Females reported more school satisfaction, less depression, and greater self-assurance when they have positive adult and

peer relationships (Hinkelman, 2023). Overall, Hinkelman (2023) found that confident females are more likely to like trying new things, express their minds, feel that school is a place where they belong, think that they can be themselves there, get along with other females, have supportive people in their lives, wish to take the lead and minimize their social media interaction.

Counterspaces

Black female students experience unique challenges due to intersecting identities of race and gender. Discrimination, stereotype threat, and underrepresentation can create adverse academic and social experiences. Counterspaces emerge as a response to these challenges, offering a refuge where Black female students can affirm their identity, voice their experiences, and empower themselves. Keels (2019) defines counterspaces as safe and supportive spaces created by marginalized groups to counteract discrimination and exclusion. Black female students, often facing multiple layers of discrimination, have found counterspaces invaluable for their personal and academic growth (Keels, 2019). To combat the microaggressions and violence they face daily, Black females need places where they are heard and supported (Anderson, 2022).

Other Definitions

"Affinity spaces," "safe spaces," and "brave spaces" are other terms that scholarly literature has used to define counterspaces (Green, 2020; Harrison, 2018; Myers et al., 2019). Harrison (2018) defined an affinity space as an informal learning environment where people interact around a common task, either in person or virtual. These spaces are not commonly found in classrooms, where students are typically segregated by race, gender, or ability level (Harrison, 2018). Affinity groups provide a venue for amplifying

the voices that are frequently marginalized. Affinity spaces provide a platform for students with a shared identity, sometimes associated with marginalization, to convene and discuss their respective identities within a secure environment (Green, 2020). Ultimately, affinity spaces should be accommodating, and the distribution of knowledge and leadership should be distributed among all participants, fostering an environment that promotes active participation and expanded understanding (Harrison, 2018).

Myers et al. (2019) define safe spaces as environments that foster candid, considerate, courteous, and civil dialogue while establishing and enforcing ground rules to facilitate discussions and regulate group dynamics. Brave spaces are places that represent the reality that no environment is ever completely safe, especially among people who are similar, like-minded, or otherwise affiliated with one another (Myers et al., 2019). Despite this danger, coming together with others may be preferable to being alone and may assist in recognizing unsaid lived facts (Myers et al., 2019). Gathering is a courageous act of defiance that must be carried out despite the possibility of punishment or the continual occurrence of microaggressions (Myers et al., 2019). Brave spaces are places that not only provide a venue for connection and recognition but also tackle the internalized biases and oppressions that exist within a community (Myers et al., 2019). The establishment of brave spaces merely consists of filling up the gaps that dominant groups have presumptively occupied due to their numerical and cultural superiority (Myers et al., 2019).

Theoretical Foundations

An analysis of contemporary research on Black adolescent females requires the application of research frameworks and perspectives that are more validating towards

Black females (Joseph et al., 2016). Thus, the examination of racism in schools and the perspectives of Black adolescent females was grounded in Black feminist thought and critical race theory (Joseph et al., 2016). By emphasizing racism's inherent nature in American society and advancing racial progress, critical race theory seeks to examine and transform the interconnections between race, racism, and power (Joseph et al., 2016). Critical race theory is advanced by Black feminist thought, which focuses on the intellectual thought that results from a nuanced examination and analysis of the unique experiences of women of African descent in the United States.

Galan's (1990) multidimensional model of bicultural identity examines distinct quadrant types of adaptation that are transitory in terms of personal integration and cultural adaptability; it is grounded in the realities of Black students (Myers et al., 2019). The four quadrants, traditional adaptation, marginal adaptation, assimilation adaptation, and bicultural adaptation, are presented on a continuum of adherence and can be plotted on the two-dimensional model of bicultural identity (Robbins et al., 2011). The Galan model incorporates the influence of cultural and behavioral values that arise in any social situation (Robbins et al., 2011). It also introduces the concept of time, which allows for a framework that considers both the contextual and temporal aspects in the formation of a dynamic bicultural identity (Robbins et al., 2011). Galan argued how vital it is to investigate the degree of conformity to both the norms and values of the ethnic family culture and those of the greater majority American culture (Robbins et al., 2011). Ultimately, racial identity formation models are informative for the Black counterspace, shedding light on how individuals might cultivate a good racial self by learning to

appreciate and combine elements of their own culture with those of other cultures (Myers et al., 2019).

Intersectionality and Its Connection to Counterspaces

Keels (2019) defined intersectionality as "the understanding that key status characteristics such as race-ethnicity, gender, national origin, class, and sexuality are indivisible in understanding people's experiences of the social world" (p. 20). The concept of intersectionality, which originated with Kimberlé Crenshaw, posited that examining the intersection of a woman's race and gender identity is crucial to comprehending the unique struggles women of color face (Joseph et al., 2016). For Black females, these various identities are significant, and comprehensive assessments of discrimination and other forms of oppression need to take these identities into account (Joseph et al., 2016). Because classrooms are microcosms of the greater society, teachers, administrators, and legislators who fail to recognize the interconnectedness of Black females' experiences are responsible for the inequality and mistreatment of this group (Anderson, 2022). As a result, Black females are prevented from realizing their full academic potential by adult perceptions in schools that support a false narrative about them and validate unfavorable stereotypes (Anderson, 2022). In the end, when considered separately, race, ethnicity, and gender are observable identities that come with unique difficulties in a culture that disfavors women and Black people. Because Black women are the embodiment of these two identities, they do not experience femininity or Blackness in the same ways that White women or Black men do (Keels, 2019).

Challenges and Criticisms

There are major challenges and criticisms for having counterspaces for marginalized groups of people. According to Pendharkar (2022), Parents Defending Education, a parent group, has filed four complaints and a federal lawsuit against school districts with the U.S. Department of Education's Office of Civil Rights against counterspaces. The complaints and lawsuits were filed in response to counterspaces providing safe spaces for students or educators of color, claiming that the establishment of these groups violates the Civil Rights Act and the 14th Amendment's equal protection provision (Pendharkar, 2022). Ultimately, the lawsuit was settled in February 2022, with districts consenting to clarify that all students were welcome to join the groups (Pendharkar, 2022).

The U.S. Department of Education's Office of Civil Rights released a document providing guidance and clarification on Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, a law that prohibits a statute outlawing discrimination on the basis of race or national origin for any entity receiving government funds (Lhamon, 2023). According to Barnum (2023), the documents cannot express that while schools should encourage open dialogue about race and racism, they should not, under any circumstances, allow students to form exclusive groups based on race. The statement implies that educational institutions could implement customary approaches, such as incorporating race-related content into the curriculum and implementing initiatives to assist marginalized communities affected by racism (Barnum, 2023). The establishment of race-exclusive groups, a strategy used in several educational institutions, may potentially initiate an investigation of civil rights (Barnum, 2023). The guidance was presented as a letter addressed to school officials and

does not possess the legal authority of law (Barnum, 2023). However, this implies the potential approach of the present administration towards legal inquiries, and this kind of counsel is frequently monitored by educational authorities (Barnum, 2023). The guideline outlines what would and would not result in a civil rights investigation and provides several fictitious instances highlighting the department's methodology (Barnum, 2023). Ultimately, Lhamon (2023) acknowledges that "many schools, colleges, and universities offer spaces and activities for students... to cultivate inclusive communities that feel welcoming to students from traditionally underserved populations," and that these efforts are permissible as long as they "are open to all students regardless of race" (p. 11).

Opponents of safe spaces often assert patriarchal arguments that prioritize the needs of an ideal student, disregarding the potential harm caused by engaging in confrontational debates that directly impact the student's social identity (Keels, 2019). In addition, historical claims that colleges and universities are post-oppressive are frequently invoked to refute arguments against safe spaces, given that few laws directly disadvantage historically marginalized students (Keels, 2019). Critics have also denied the existence and significance of microaggressions and stereotypes (Keels, 2019; Tatum, 2017). On the other hand, providing role models from stigmatized groups who defy stereotypes is crucial for young Black females' academic success, especially when their strong racial identity is associated with achievement (Tatum, 2017).

Positive Outcomes of Counterspaces for Black Females

Black scholars are adamant that for Black women to maintain a sense of unity and strength in their dual identities as Black and female, they must maintain strong social connections (Marsh, 2013). Thus, counterspaces provide opportunities for students to

who share similar experiences, providing validation and a sense of community (Case & Hunter, 2012). Counterspaces are spaces where participants establish and uphold unique narratives, serving as the foundation for individual stories or identities, as well as the collective ideologies, worldviews, or belief systems that define a particular counterspace (Case & Hunter, 2012). Counterspaces play a crucial role in allowing marginalized individuals to think, feel, and behave in ways that align with their own identities, which are often undervalued by the broader society (Case & Hunter, 2012).

In this context of a counterspace, students can discuss how to disrupt systems that marginalize them when they gather in safe places centered on common identities, ultimately leading to a shift in the school's focus from assimilation to social activism (Bell, 2015). Students who share an identity will develop deeper connections with one another than they could with peers who lack the ability to relate to or comprehend their experience (Bell, 2015). It involves safety and, in certain instances, fundamental injustices (Bell, 2015).

Counterspaces often include mentorship from faculty and staff who understand the unique challenges Black female students face and provide guidance and support in navigating the academic environment (Skeffrey, 2022). Black females must be exposed to influential Black women who embody success in a wide range of fields, including science, politics, and business, and occupy positions that defy gender stereotypes (Skeffrey, 2022). Young girls must be exposed to positive female role models to be inspired to pursue careers in positions of prominence, where they are currently grossly underrepresented and subjected to negative stereotypes (Skeffrey, 2022).

Counterspaces are socially and emotionally safe, inclusive, and welcoming. Myers et al. (2019) conducted a study on affinity spaces for all marginalized groups at a mid-Atlantic regional state-funded, predominately White college. The researchers reported that many students expressed happiness about being able to discuss their issues and challenges without worrying about being judged or alienated even more (Myers et al., 2019). Students also experienced a sense of relief in having a space where they could openly discuss their worries and difficulties without apprehension of being criticized or excluded even more (Myers et al., 2019). Members of the counterspaces also reported that after connecting with one another on similar problems, they no longer felt alone and isolated (Myers et al., 2019).

Summary

This chapter examined topics that were relevant to this study. A history of suburbanization in the United States and the Kansas City metro area and its impact on the social-emotional learning of Black females in suburban high schools was presented. Furthermore, the chapter provided an overview of the social-emotional learning framework, its competencies, and how its framework is utilized in schools. Furthermore, detailed in this chapter were the profound impact of social-emotional counterspaces on the educational experience of Black female student in suburban schools and why providing social-emotional counterspaces for them in suburban high schools are vital to their educational experience. Included in the next chapter are the methods utilized to conduct the current study.

Chapter 3

Methods

The focus of the current study was to determine the extent Black females agree they had the opportunity to learn and are confident in their social-emotional skills, the extent of representation for Black females at the high school they currently or recently attended, and Black females' agreement about the benefits of a counterspace for Black females had it been offered at the high school they most recently attended. Also, this study was focused on the extent there is a relationship between Black females' agreement about the opportunity to learn social-emotional skills and their agreement that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial at the high school they most recently attended; the extent there is a relationship between Black females' agreement about their confidence in their social-emotional skills and their agreement that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial at the high school they most recently attended; and the extent there is a relationship between Black females' agreement about the representation of Black females and their agreement that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial at the high school they most recently attended. Chapter 3 includes a description of the study's research design and the method of selecting the participants. The chapter also includes a detailed description of the measurement, data collection procedures, and data analysis and hypothesis testing. An explanation of the study's limitations and a summary are found at the chapter's end.

Research Design

A survey research design was used in this study to measure Black females' responses about their level of agreement with the opportunity to learn about social-emotional skills, their confidence in their social-emotional skills, the representation of Black females at the high school they currently or recently attended; and their agreement that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial at the high school they most recently attended. The design was also used to measure the comparative relationship between Black females' level of agreement with the opportunity to learn about social-emotional skills, their confidence in their social-emotional skills, and the representation of Black females at the high school they currently or recently attended, to their agreement about the benefits of a counterspace for Black females had been offered at the high school they most recently attended. For this study, a survey research design was appropriate to utilize due to the capacity to examine the frequencies and detect patterns in the survey responses (Voxco, 2021).

Selection of Participants

The general population of interest was Black females, ages 18 and older, who attended or recently attended a suburban high school in the Kansas City metro area. Purposive sampling was the approach used in this study. According to Lunenburg and Irby (2008), "purposive sampling involves selecting a sample based on the researcher's experience or knowledge of the group to be sampled" (p. 175). Purposive sampling was used in this study because it enabled the investigation of the targeted population of Black females, 18 and older, who currently attend or recently attended a suburban high school in the Kansas City metro area. Participants from the targeted group who completed the

survey comprised the sample for this study. Participants were located using Facebook groups (e.g., Black Owned Business-Kansas City, BOBKC-Women, Black Women Making Friends-Kansas City, Melanin Moms of KC) that include Black women members in the Kansas City metro area. The researcher contacted individuals from these groups using a solicitation post to collect email addresses for current or recent students who met the criteria. The post included a link to a Google Form to collect valid emails and a flyer. The solicitation post was also shared on Snapchat, LinkedIn, Instagram, X (formerly known as Twitter), Discord, TikTok, Reddit, and Nextdoor (see Appendix A).

Measurement

The instrument used in this study was a survey developed by the researcher to gather data to understand better the respondents' perceptions of the need for social-emotional counterspaces in suburban high schools. The researcher used the five competencies of CASEL's (2020) SEL framework and items relevant to understanding the perception of the need for counterspaces in suburban high schools to create a five-point Likert-type agreement scale for the survey. The scale ranges from 1 (*strongly disagree*) to 5 (*strongly agree*) (see Table 1).

Section 1 of the survey included an item requesting that respondents name the high school they currently or most recently attended. Section 2 included six items related to Black females' agreement about the opportunity to learn social-emotional skills at the high school they recently attended. Section 3 included six items related to Black females' agreement about their confidence in their social-emotional skills. Section 4 included four items related to Black females at the high school they most recently attended. Section 5 included one item related to Black

females' agreement that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial had it been offered at the high school they most recently attended. The alignment of survey items, research questions, and hypotheses is presented in Table 1 (see Appendix B for the full survey).

Table 1Alignment of Survey Items, Research Questions, and Hypotheses

Item	RQ	Н
At the high school I most recently attended, I had opportunities to learn how to understand my own emotions, thoughts, and values and how they influence my actions	1, 5	1, 18
At the high school I most recently attended, I had opportunities to learn how to manage my emotions, thoughts, and behaviors effectively in different situations to achieve my goals and aspirations.	1, 5	2, 19
At the high school I most recently attended, I had opportunities to learn how to understand the perspective of and empathize with others from different backgrounds, cultures, & contexts.	1, 5	3, 20
At the high school I most recently attended, I had opportunities to learn how to establish and maintain healthy and supportive relationships.	1, 5	4, 21
At the high school I most recently attended, I had opportunities to learn how to effectively navigate settings with diverse individuals and groups.	1, 5	5, 22
At the high school I most recently attended, I had opportunities to learn how to make caring and constructive choices about personal behavior and social interactions across diverse situations.	1, 5	6, 23
I am confident that I learned how to understand my own emotions, thoughts, and values and how they influence my actions at the high school I most recently attended.	2, 6	7, 24
I am confident that I learned how to manage my emotions, thoughts, and behaviors effectively in different situations to achieve my goals and aspirations at the high school I most recently attended.	2, 6	8, 25
I am confident that I learned how to understand the perspective of and empathize with others from different backgrounds, cultures, & contexts at the high school I most recently attended.	2, 6	9, 26
I am confident that I learned how to establish and maintain healthy and supportive relationships at the high school I most recently attended.	2, 6	10, 27
I am confident that I learned how to effectively navigate settings with diverse individuals and groups.	2, 6	11, 28
I am confident that I learned how to make caring and constructive choices about personal behavior and social interactions across diverse situations at the high school I most recently attended.	2, 6	12, 29
Black females were represented in the classroom experiences at the high school I most recently attended.	3, 7	13, 30
Black females were represented in the books and resources in the library at the high school I most recently attended.	3, 7	14, 31
Black females were represented in the school employee population at the high school I most recently attended.	3, 7	15, 32
Black females were represented in the student population at the high school I most recently attended.	3, 7	16, 33
A counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial had it been offered at the high school I most recently attended.	4, 5, 6, 7	17-33

Lunenburg and Irby (2008) stated that validity is "the degree to which an instrument measures what it purports to measure" (p. 181). To ensure the validity of the survey, the researcher sent the survey to an expert panel to review the survey and provide feedback on the relevance of the items, the need for additional items, audience appropriateness, and any other improvements the researcher needed to consider (see Appendix C). The experts included:

- Expert #1- A previous executive director/superintendent at a Kansas City area school district
- Expert #2- A previous assistant principal at a Kansas City metro area school district, UMKC adjunct professor, and diversity, equity, and inclusion consultant
- Expert #3- Director of curriculum and instruction at a Kansas City metro area school district and a social-emotional learning training expert
- Expert #4- Kansas City metro area therapist specializing in trauma-informed therapy

Although not all suggestions were implemented, all responses were considered, and the survey was modified. As a result of the expert panelists' comments, survey item 2 was modified to read "to achieve my goals and aspirations" from "and achieve my goals and aspirations." Also, the fourth CASEL SEL competency, "establish and maintain healthy and supportive relationships and effectively navigate settings with diverse individuals and groups," was divided into two items for easier readability and comprehension for the survey participants and improved measurement for the research. The new items were

"establish and maintain healthy and supportive relationships" and "effectively navigate settings with diverse individuals and groups."

Reliability is the degree to which an instrument consistently measures what it purports to measure (Lunenburg & Irby, 2008). Reliability is a characteristic of a scale constructed from multiple items (Sankaran, 2022) and evaluated based on the internal consistency of the responses to those items on the scale. For this study, the survey items were used to measure variables individually.

Most commonly used single-item measures can be divided into two categories: (a) those measuring self-reported facts . . . and (b) those measuring psychological constructs, e.g., aspects of personality . . . measuring the former with single items is common practice. However, using a single-item measure for the latter is considered to be a "fatal error" in research. If the construct being measured is sufficiently narrow or is unambiguous to the respondent, a single item may suffice. (Sackett & Larson, 1990, p. 631)

The individual items used in this research were self-reported facts that were sufficiently narrow and unambiguous. Because no scale was constructed, reliability was not an issue for this survey instrument's measurement.

Data Collection Procedures

Preceding data collection, the researcher submitted a request to conduct the study to Baker University's Institutional Review Board (IRB) on November 28, 2023. The IRB approved the study on November 30, 2023 (see Appendix D). After obtaining IRB approval to conduct the research, the survey link was emailed to the participants using the email addresses collected via the aforementioned social media platforms on December

18, 2023, December 19, 2023, and January 17, 2024, requesting the selected sample to participate (see Appendix E). The email expressed the study's importance and included the study's purpose, the researcher's contact information, and the terms of participation. In the correspondence, participants were also informed that by completing the survey, they were granting permission to use their responses in this study. A reminder (see Appendix F) was sent to selected participants on January 8, 2024 and January 30, 2024. The survey was closed on February 2, 2024, and the results were downloaded into an Excel spreadsheet.

Data Analysis and Hypothesis Testing

To address the purposes of the study, seven research questions were posed and 33 hypotheses were tested. The research questions, along with the corresponding hypotheses, are listed in this section. The statistical analysis method is listed after the hypothesis or hypotheses that address each RQ.

RQ1

To what extent do Black females agree they had the opportunity to learn socialemotional skills at the high school they most recently attended?

- **H1.** Black females agree they had opportunities to learn how to understand their own emotions, thoughts, and values and how they influence their actions at the high school they most recently attended.
- **H2.** Black females agree they had opportunities to learn how to manage their emotions, thoughts, and behaviors effectively in different situations to achieve their goals and aspirations at the high school they most recently attended.

- **H3.** Black females agree they had opportunities to learn how to understand the perspective of and empathize with others from different backgrounds, cultures, & contexts at the high school they most recently attended.
- **H4.** Black females agree they had opportunities to learn how to establish and maintain healthy and supportive relationships.
- **H5.** Black females agree they had opportunities to learn how to effectively navigate settings with diverse individuals and groups at the high school they most recently attended.
- **H6.** Black females agree had opportunities to learn how to make caring and constructive choices about personal behavior and social interactions across diverse situations at the high school they most recently attended.

Six one-sample *t* tests were conducted to test H1-H6. For each test, the sample mean was compared to a test value of 3. The one-sample *t* test was chosen for the hypothesis testing because it involves the comparison of one group mean with a known value, and the group mean is calculated from a numerical variable. The level of significance was set at .05. When appropriate, the effect size, as measured by Cohen's *d*, is reported.

RQ2

To what extent do Black females agree they are confident in their socialemotional skills?

H7. Black females are confident they learned how to understand their own emotions, thoughts, and values and how they influence their actions at the high school they most recently attended.

- **H8.** Black females are confident they learned how to manage their emotions, thoughts, and behaviors effectively in different situations to achieve their goals and aspirations at the high school they most recently attended.
- **H9.** Black females are confident they learned how to understand the perspective of and empathize with others from different backgrounds, cultures, & contexts at the high school they most recently attended.
- **H10.** Black females are confident they learned how to establish and maintain healthy and supportive relationships.
- **H11.** Black females are confident they learned how to effectively navigate settings with diverse individuals and groups at the high school they most recently attended.
- **H12.** Black females are confident they learned how to make caring and constructive choices about personal behavior and social interactions across diverse situations at the high school they most recently attended.

Six one-sample *t* tests were conducted to test H7-H12. For each test, the sample mean was compared to a test value of 3. The one-sample *t* test was chosen for the hypothesis testing because it involves the comparison of one group mean with a known value, and the group mean is calculated from a numerical variable. The level of significance was set at .05. When appropriate, the effect size, as measured by Cohen's *d*, is reported.

RQ3

To what extent do Black females agree they are represented at the high school they most recently attended?

- **H13.** Black females agree they were represented in the classroom experiences at the high school they most recently attended.
- **H14.** Black females agree they were represented in the books and resources in the library at the high school they most recently attended.
- **H15.** Black females agree they were represented in the school employees at the high school they most recently attended.
- **H16.** Black females agree they were represented in the students at the high school they most recently attended.

Four one-sample *t* tests were conducted to test H13-H16. For each test, the sample mean was compared to a test value of 3. The one-sample *t* test was chosen for the hypothesis testing because it involves the comparison of one group mean with a known value, and the group mean is calculated from a numerical variable. The level of significance was set at .05. When appropriate, the effect size, as measured by Cohen's *d*, is reported.

RQ4

To what extent do Black females agree that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial had it been offered at the high school they most recently attended?

H17. Black females agree that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial had it been offered at the high school they most recently attended.

A one-sample *t* test was conducted to test H17. The sample mean was compared to a test value of 3. The one-sample *t* test was chosen for the hypothesis testing because it involves the comparison of one group mean with a known value, and the group mean is

calculated from a numerical variable. The level of significance was set at .05. When appropriate, the effect size, as measured by Cohen's d, is reported.

RQ5

To what extent is there a relationship between Black females' agreement about the opportunity to learn social-emotional skills and their agreement that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial at the high school they most recently attended?

H18. There is a relationship between Black females' agreement of the opportunity to learn how to understand their own emotions, thoughts, and values and how they influence their actions and their agreement that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial at the high school they most recently attended.

H19. There is a relationship between Black females' agreement of the opportunity to learn how to manage their emotions, thoughts, and behaviors effectively in different situations to achieve their goals and aspirations and their agreement that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial at the high school they most recently attended.

H20. There is a relationship between Black females' agreement of the opportunity to learn how to understand the perspective of and empathize with others from different backgrounds, cultures, and contexts and their agreement that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial at the high school they most recently attended.

H21. There is a relationship between Black females' agreement of the opportunity to learn how to establish and maintain healthy and supportive relationships and their

agreement that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial at the high school they most recently attended.

H22. There is a relationship between Black females' agreement of the opportunity to learn how to effectively navigate settings with diverse individuals and groups and their agreement that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial at the high school they most recently attended.

H23. There is a relationship between Black females' agreement of the opportunity to learn how to make caring and constructive choices about personal behavior and social interactions across diverse situations and their agreement that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial at the high school they most recently attended.

A Pearson product moment correlation coefficient was calculated to index the strength and direction of the relationship between each of the six survey items that measured Black females' agreement about the opportunity to learn social-emotional skills and their agreement that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial at the high school they most recently attended. The statistical significance of the correlation coefficients was examined to test H18-H23. The level of significance was set at .05. The effect size, as measured by r^2 , is reported when appropriate.

RQ6

To what extent is there a relationship between Black females' agreement about their confidence in their social-emotional skills and their agreement that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial at the high school they most recently attended?

- **H24.** There is a relationship between Black females' agreement of confidence in understanding their own emotions, thoughts, and values and how they influence their actions and their agreement that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial at the high school they most recently attended.
- **H25.** There is a relationship between Black females' confidence in managing their emotions, thoughts, and behaviors effectively in different situations and achieve their goals and aspirations and their agreement that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial at the high school they most recently attended.
- **H26.** There is a relationship between Black females' confidence in understanding the perspective of and empathizing with others from different backgrounds, cultures, & contexts and their agreement that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial at the high school they most recently attended.
- **H27.** There is a relationship between Black females' confidence in establishing and maintaining healthy and supportive relationships and their agreement that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial at the high school they most recently attended.
- **H28.** There is a relationship between Black females' confidence in effectively navigating settings with diverse individuals and groups and their agreement that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial at the high school they most recently attended.
- **H29.** There is a relationship between Black females' confidence in making caring and constructive choices about personal behavior and social interactions across diverse

situations and their agreement that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial at the high school they most recently attended.

A Pearson product moment correlation coefficient was calculated to index the strength and direction of the relationship between each of the six survey items that measured Black females' agreement about their confidence in their social-emotional skills and their agreement a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial at the high school they most recently attended. The statistical significance of the correlation coefficients was examined to test H24-H29. The level of significance was set at .05. The effect size, as measured by r^2 , is reported when appropriate.

RQ7

To what extent is there a relationship between Black females' agreement about the representation of Black females at the high school they most recently attended and their agreement that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial?

H30. There is a relationship between Black females' agreement about the representation of Black females in their classroom experiences and their agreement that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial at the high school they most recently attended.

H31. There is a relationship between Black females' agreement about the representation of Black females in the books and resources in their library and their agreement that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial at the high school they most recently attended.

H32. There is a relationship between Black females' agreement about the representation of Black females in the school employees and their agreement that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial at the high school they most recently attended.

H33. There is a relationship between Black females' agreement about the representation of Black females in the students and their agreement that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial at the high school they most recently attended.

A Pearson product moment correlation coefficient was calculated to index the strength and direction of the relationship between each of the four survey items that measured Black females' agreement about the representation of Black females and their agreement that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial at the high school they most recently attended. The statistical significance of the correlation coefficients was examined to test H30-H33. The level of significance was set at .05. The effect size, as measured by r^2 , is reported when appropriate.

Limitations

"The limitations of the study are the parameters placed on the methodology.

These limitations need to be noted and briefly discussed so the reader understands the potential impact of the application and interpretation of results of the study" (Joyner et al., 2018, p. 194). Limitations of this research include the following:

- 1. Survey participants may not interpret the survey items or directions similarly.
- 2. The comfort levels of the respondents could vary.

- 3. Survey participants may have reflected on previous answers and changed their opinions while taking the survey.
- 4. The researcher had no control over who completed the survey.

Summary

Chapter 3 contained a discussion of the research methods. Included in this chapter were the research design, selection of participants, measurement, data collection procedures, data analysis and hypothesis testing, and the limitations. Chapter 4 includes the study results.

Chapter 4

Results

The focus of this quantitative study was on Black females who currently or recently attended a suburban high school in the Kansas City metro area and their agreement that they had the opportunity to learn social-emotional skills, are confident in their social-emotional skills, and are represented at the high school they most recently attended. Additionally, the focus was on the relationship between the opportunity to learn social-emotional skills and Black females' agreement that a social-emotional counterspace would have been beneficial had it been offered; the relationship between Black females' confidence in their socialemotional skills and Black females' agreement that a social-emotional counterspace would have been beneficial had it been offered; and the relationship between the representation of Black females in their school environment and Black females' agreement that a social-emotional counterspace would have been beneficial had it been offered. Lastly, the focus was on their agreement that a social-emotional counterspace would have been beneficial had it been offered. The results of the hypothesis testing are presented in this chapter.

At the time the survey closed, there were 22 survey respondents. Upon review of the survey data, the responses for one of the participants were deleted due to the participant's high school not meeting the criterion of being a suburban school in the Kansas City metro area. Because some participants chose not to respond to all of the survey items, the sample size for individual hypothesis tests varies.

Hypothesis Testing

This section provides an analysis of the hypothesis testing conducted for each research question. There were 33 hypothesis tests conducted. Within this section, the outcomes of the analysis are detailed in the following order: research questions, hypotheses, data analysis, and the results of the hypothesis testing.

RQ1

To what extent do Black females agree they had the opportunity to learn socialemotional skills at the high school they most recently attended?

- **H1.** Black females agree they had opportunities to learn how to understand their own emotions, thoughts, and values and how they influence their actions at the high school they most recently attended.
- **H2.** Black females agree they had opportunities to learn how to manage their emotions, thoughts, and behaviors effectively in different situations to achieve their goals and aspirations at the high school they most recently attended.
- **H3.** Black females agree they had opportunities to learn how to understand the perspective of and empathize with others from different backgrounds, cultures, & contexts at the high school they most recently attended.
- **H4.** Black females agree they had opportunities to learn how to establish and maintain healthy and supportive relationships.
- **H5.** Black females agree they had opportunities to learn how to effectively navigate settings with diverse individuals and groups at the high school they most recently attended.

H6. Black females agree had opportunities to learn how to make caring and constructive choices about personal behavior and social interactions across diverse situations at the high school they most recently attended.

Six one-sample *t* tests were conducted to test H1-H6. For each test, the sample mean was compared to a test value of 3. The one-sample *t* test was chosen for the hypothesis testing because it involves the comparison of one group mean with a known value, and the group mean is calculated from a numerical variable. The level of significance was set at .05. When appropriate, the effect size, as measured by Cohen's *d*, is reported.

The results of the six one-sample *t* tests indicate no difference between any of the group means and the test value (3). Table 2 contains the test and descriptive statistics for the tests of H1-H6. These results indicate that Black females neither agree nor disagree that they had the opportunity to learn social-emotional skills at the high school they most recently attended.

Table 2

Test and Descriptive Statistics for the Tests of H1-H6

Н	Opportunity to Learn	M	SD	N	t	p
1	Understand their own emotions, thoughts, and values and how they influence their actions	3.19	1.25	21	0.698	.493
2	Manage their emotions, thoughts, and behaviors effectively in different situations to achieve their goals and aspirations	3.14	1.28	21	0.513	.614
3	Understand the perspective of and empathize with others from different backgrounds, cultures, & contexts	3.33	1.11	21	1.375	.184
4	Establish and maintain healthy and supportive relationships	3.57	1.29	21	2.034	.055
5	Navigate settings with diverse individuals and groups	3.35	1.14	20	1.377	.185
6	Make caring and constructive choices about personal behavior and social interactions across diverse situations	3.14	1.06	21	0.616	.545

RQ2

To what extent do Black females agree they are confident in their socialemotional skills?

H7. Black females are confident they learned how to understand their own emotions, thoughts, and values and how they influence their actions at the high school they most recently attended.

- **H8.** Black females are confident they learned how to manage their emotions, thoughts, and behaviors effectively in different situations to achieve their goals and aspirations at the high school they most recently attended.
- **H9.** Black females are confident they learned how to understand the perspective of and empathize with others from different backgrounds, cultures, & contexts at the high school they most recently attended.
- **H10.** Black females are confident they learned how to establish and maintain healthy and supportive relationships.
- **H11.** Black females are confident they learned how to effectively navigate settings with diverse individuals and groups at the high school they most recently attended.
- **H12.** Black females are confident they learned how to make caring and constructive choices about personal behavior and social interactions across diverse situations at the high school they most recently attended.

Six one-sample *t* tests were conducted to test H7-H12. For each test, the sample mean was compared to a test value of 3. The one-sample *t* test was chosen for the hypothesis testing because it involves the comparison of one group mean with a known value, and the group mean is calculated from a numerical variable. The level of significance was set at .05. When appropriate, the effect size, as measured by Cohen's *d*, is reported.

The results of five of the one-sample t tests indicate no difference between any of the group means and the test value (3). However, the test for H10 was statistically significant, t(18) = 2.585, p = .019, d = 1.065. The mean (M = 3.63) is higher than the test

value. Table 3 contains the test and descriptive statistics for the tests of H7-H12. The results for five of the hypotheses indicate that Black females neither agree nor disagree that they are confident in their social-emotional skills at the high school they most recently attended. The results for testing H10 indicate that Black females are confident they learned how to establish and maintain healthy and supportive relationships. The effect size for H10 indicates a medium effect.

Table 3Test and Descriptive Statistics for the Tests of H7-H12

Н	Confidence	M	SD	N	t	p
7	Understand their own emotions, thoughts, and values and how they influence their actions	2.95	1.22	19	-0.188	.853
8	Manage their emotions, thoughts, and behaviors effectively in different situations to achieve their goals and aspirations	3.00	1.33	19	0.000	1.000
9	Understand the perspective of and empathize with others from different backgrounds, cultures, & contexts	3.21	1.03	19	0.889	.385
10	Establish and maintain healthy and supportive relationships	3.63	1.07	19	2.585	.019
11	Navigate settings with diverse individuals and groups	3.26	1.10	19	1.045	.310
12	Make caring and constructive choices about personal behavior and social interactions across diverse situations	3.21	0.98	19	0.940	.360

To what extent do Black females agree they are represented at the high school they most recently attended?

- **H13.** Black females agree they were represented in the classroom experiences at the high school they most recently attended.
- **H14.** Black females agree they were represented in the books and resources in the library at the high school they most recently attended.
- **H15.** Black females agree they were represented in the school employees at the high school they most recently attended.
- **H16.** Black females agree they were represented in the students at the high school they most recently attended.

Four one-sample *t* tests were conducted to test H13-H16. For each test, the sample mean was compared to a test value of 3. The one-sample *t* test was chosen for the hypothesis testing because it involves the comparison of one group mean with a known value, and the group mean is calculated from a numerical variable. The level of significance was set at .05. When appropriate, the effect size, as measured by Cohen's *d*, is reported.

The results of two of the one-sample t tests indicate no difference between any of the group means and the test value (3). However, the test for H13 was statistically significant, t(20) = -3.200, p = .004, d = 1.091. The mean (M = 2.24) is lower than the test value. The test for H15 was also statistically significant, t(20) = 3.970, p = .001, d = 1.044. The mean (M = 2.10) is lower than the test value. Table 4 contains the test and descriptive statistics for the tests of H13-H16. The results for two of the hypotheses

indicate that Black females neither agree nor disagree they are represented at the high school they most recently attended. The results for testing H13 indicate that Black females disagree they were represented in the classroom experiences. The results for testing H15 indicate that Black females disagree they were represented in the school employees. The effect size for H13 and H15 indicates large effects.

Table 4Test and Descriptive Statistics for the Tests of H13-H16

Н	Representation	M	SD	N	t	p
13	Classroom Experiences	2.24	1.09	21	-3.200	.004
14	Books and resources in the library	2.57	1.08	21	-1.826	.083
15	School employees	2.10	1.04	21	-3.970	.001
16	Students	3.33	1.20	21	1.276	.217

RO4

To what extent do Black females agree that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial had it been offered at the high school they most recently attended?

H17. Black females agree that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial had it been offered at the high school they most recently attended.

A one-sample *t* test was conducted to test H17. The sample mean was compared to a test value of 3. The one-sample *t* test was chosen for the hypothesis testing because it involves the comparison of one group mean with a known value, and the group mean is

calculated from a numerical variable. The level of significance was set at .05. When appropriate, the effect size, as measured by Cohen's d, is reported.

The results of the one-sample t test indicate a statistically significant difference between the group mean and the test value, t(20) = 11.090, p = .000, Cohen's d = 0.669. The sample mean (M = 4.62, SD = 0.67) was significantly higher than the test value (3). H17 was supported. Black females agree or strongly agree that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial had it been offered at the high school they most recently attended. The effect size indicates a medium effect.

RQ5

To what extent is there a relationship between Black females' agreement about the opportunity to learn social-emotional skills and their agreement that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial at the high school they most recently attended?

H18. There is a relationship between Black females' agreement of the opportunity to learn how to understand their own emotions, thoughts, and values and how they influence their actions and their agreement that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial at the high school they most recently attended.

H19. There is a relationship between Black females' agreement of the opportunity to learn how to manage their emotions, thoughts, and behaviors effectively in different situations to achieve their goals and aspirations and their agreement that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial at the high school they most recently attended.

- **H20.** There is a relationship between Black females' agreement of the opportunity to learn how to understand the perspective of and empathize with others from different backgrounds, cultures, and contexts and their agreement that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial at the high school they most recently attended.
- **H21.** There is a relationship between Black females' agreement of the opportunity to learn how to establish and maintain healthy and supportive relationships and their agreement that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial at the high school they most recently attended.
- **H22.** There is a relationship between Black females' agreement of the opportunity to learn how to effectively navigate settings with diverse individuals and groups and their agreement that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial at the high school they most recently attended.
- **H23.** There is a relationship between Black females' agreement of the opportunity to learn how to make caring and constructive choices about personal behavior and social interactions across diverse situations and their agreement that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial at the high school they most recently attended.

A Pearson product moment correlation coefficient was calculated to index the strength and direction of the relationship between each of the six survey items that measured Black females' agreement about the opportunity to learn social-emotional skills and their agreement that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial at the high school they most recently attended. The statistical significance of the correlation coefficients was examined to test H18-H23. The level of significance was set at .05. The effect size, as measured by r^2 , is reported when appropriate.

The correlation coefficients that were calculated to test H18-H23 provided no evidence for relationships between any of the variables. The hypothesis tests for the correlations indicate no statistically significant relationships, and the hypotheses were not supported. Table 5 contains the test statistics and correlations for the tests of H18-H23. The results of the six hypothesis tests conducted to address RQ5 provided no evidence for a relationship between Black females' agreement about the opportunity to learn social-emotional skills and their agreement that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial at the high school they most recently attended.

Table 5

Test Statistics and Correlations for the Tests of H18-H23

Н	Opportunity to Learn	r	p	N
18	Understand their own emotions, thoughts, and values and how they influence their actions	148	.522	21
19	Manage their emotions, thoughts, and behaviors effectively in different situations to achieve their goals and aspirations	050	.829	21
20	Understand the perspective of and empathize with others from different backgrounds, cultures, & contexts	022	.923	21
21	Establish and maintain healthy and supportive relationships	141	.542	21
22	Navigate settings with diverse individuals and groups	073	.760	20
23	Make caring and constructive choices about personal behavior and social interactions across diverse situations	131	.572	21

To what extent is there a relationship between Black females' agreement about their confidence in their social-emotional skills and their agreement that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial at the high school they most recently attended?

- **H24.** There is a relationship between Black females' agreement of confidence in understanding their own emotions, thoughts, and values and how they influence their actions and their agreement that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial at the high school they most recently attended.
- **H25.** There is a relationship between Black females' confidence in managing their emotions, thoughts, and behaviors effectively in different situations and achieve their goals and aspirations and their agreement that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial at the high school they most recently attended.
- **H26.** There is a relationship between Black females' confidence in understanding the perspective of and empathizing with others from different backgrounds, cultures, & contexts and their agreement that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial at the high school they most recently attended.
- **H27.** There is a relationship between Black females' confidence in establishing and maintaining healthy and supportive relationships and their agreement that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial at the high school they most recently attended.
- **H28.** There is a relationship between Black females' confidence in effectively navigating settings with diverse individuals and groups and their agreement that a

counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial at the high school they most recently attended.

H29. There is a relationship between Black females' confidence in making caring and constructive choices about personal behavior and social interactions across diverse situations and their agreement that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial at the high school they most recently attended.

A Pearson product moment correlation coefficient was calculated to index the strength and direction of the relationship between each of the six survey items that measured Black females' agreement about their confidence in their social-emotional skills and their agreement a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial at the high school they most recently attended. The statistical significance of the correlation coefficients was examined to test H24-H29. The level of significance was set at .05. The effect size, as measured by r^2 , is reported when appropriate.

The correlation coefficients that were calculated to test H24-H29 provided no evidence for relationships between any of the variables. The hypothesis tests for the correlations indicate no statistically significant relationships, and the hypotheses were not supported. Table 6 contains the test statistics and correlations for the tests of H24-H29. The results of the six hypothesis tests conducted to address RQ6 provided no evidence for a relationship between Black females' agreement about their confidence in their social-emotional skills and their agreement that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial at the high school they most recently attended.

Table 6Test Statistics and Correlations for the Tests of H24-H29

Н	Confidence In	r	p	N
24	Understand their own emotions, thoughts, and values and how they influence their actions	159	.516	19
25	Manage their emotions, thoughts, and behaviors effectively in different situations to achieve their goals and aspirations	241	.321	19
26	Understand the perspective of and empathize with others from different backgrounds, cultures, & contexts	258	.287	19
27	Establish and maintain healthy and supportive relationships	.079	.747	19
28	Navigate settings with diverse individuals and groups	138	.572	19
29	Make caring and constructive choices about personal behavior and social interactions across diverse situations	272	.259	19

RQ7

To what extent is there a relationship between Black females' agreement about the representation of Black females at the high school they most recently attended and their agreement that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial?

H30. There is a relationship between Black females' agreement about the representation of Black females in their classroom experiences and their agreement that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial at the high school they most recently attended.

H31. There is a relationship between Black females' agreement about the representation of Black females in the books and resources in their library and their agreement that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial at the high school they most recently attended.

H32. There is a relationship between Black females' agreement about the representation of Black females in the school employees and their agreement that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial at the high school they most recently attended.

H33. There is a relationship between Black females' agreement about the representation of Black females in the students and their agreement that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial at the high school they most recently attended.

A Pearson product moment correlation coefficient was calculated to index the strength and direction of the relationship between each of the four survey items that measured Black females' agreement about the representation of Black females and their agreement that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial at the high school they most recently attended. The statistical significance of the correlation coefficients was examined to test H30-H33. The level of significance was set at .05. The effect size, as measured by r^2 , is reported when appropriate.

The correlation coefficients that were calculated to test H30-H33 provided no evidence for relationships between any of the variables specified in H30-H33. The hypothesis tests for the correlations indicate no statistically significant relationships. H30-H33 were not supported. Table 7 contains the test statistics and correlations for the

tests of H30-H33. The results of the four hypothesis tests conducted to address RQ7 provided no evidence for a relationship between Black females' agreement about their representation in classroom experiences, library books and resources, school employees, or students at the high school they most recently attended and their agreement that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial.

Table 7Test Statistics and Correlations for the Tests of H30-H33

Н	Representation	r	p	N
30	Classroom experiences	281	.218	21
31	Books and resources in the library	030	.898	21
32	School employees	160	.488	21
33	Students	083	.720	21

Summary

The findings related to the data analysis conducted in this study were reported in this chapter. Twenty-two participants completed the survey in total, but the data from 21 of the participants were used in the data analysis. In Chapter 5, the study summary, findings related to the literature, and the conclusions are presented.

Chapter 5

Interpretation and Recommendations

In the current study, the perceptions of Black females who have recently attended or currently attend a suburban high school in the Kansas City metro area were examined. Chapter 5 includes the study summary and the findings related to the literature. The final section includes the conclusions.

Study Summary

The first subsection of this section of the chapter provides an overview of the problem. The second section includes the purpose statement and research questions. The third section is a review of the methodology, and the fourth section provides a presentation of the major findings.

Overview of the Problem

Black female students in suburban schools have distinct hurdles in their educational experiences due to considerable variations in their social-emotional experiences and opportunities compared to their White counterparts (Crenshaw et al., 2015). Furthermore, Black females in suburban settings may confront gendered prejudices that influence their educational experiences, including the refusal to acknowledge their intellectual capabilities, microaggressions, code-switching, and assumed conformity (Riley, 2021). Black females have unique challenges related to their social identities, which hinder their equal participation within the student body (Keels, 2019). Tackling these issues necessitates significant mental and emotional resilience (Keels, 2019). Therefore, offering social-emotional support in counterspaces designed for Black females could prove advantageous as the fundamental basis of counterspaces in

suburban high schools. Currently, there is limited quantitative research that focuses specifically on Black females' experiences in suburban high schools, especially with a social-emotional skill learning emphasis. Therefore, a study should be conducted to garner the perceptions of Black females in suburban high schools.

Purpose Statement and Research Questions

The focus of this study was on Black females who currently or recently attended a suburban high school in the Kansas City metro area. The first purpose of this study was to determine the extent Black females agree they had the opportunity to learn socialemotional skills at the high school they most recently attended. The second purpose was to determine the extent Black females agree they are confident in their social-emotional skills. The third purpose was to determine the extent Black females agree they are represented at the high school they most recently attended. The fourth purpose was to determine the extent Black females agree that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial had it been offered at the high school they most recently attended. The fifth purpose was to determine the extent there is a relationship between Black females' agreement about the opportunity to learn social-emotional skills and their agreement about the benefits of a counterspace for Black females had been offered at the high school they most recently attended. The sixth purpose was to determine the extent there is a relationship between Black females' agreement about their confidence in their social-emotional skills and their agreement about the benefits of a counterspace for Black females had been offered at the high school they most recently attended. The seventh purpose was to determine the extent there is a relationship between Black females' agreement about the representation of Black females at the high school they most

recently attended and their agreement that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial.

Review of the Methodology

A quantitative research design using a survey was used in this study to measure Black females' responses about their level of agreement with the opportunity to learn about social-emotional skills, their confidence in their social-emotional skills, the representation of Black females at the high school they currently or recently attended, and the agreement about the benefits of a counterspace for Black females had been offered at the high school they most recently attended. Purposive sampling was the approach used in this study. The instrument used in this study was a survey developed by the researcher to gather data to understand better the respondents' perceptions of the need for social-emotional counterspaces in suburban high schools. To ensure the validity of the survey, the researcher sent the survey to an expert panel to review the survey and provide feedback on the relevance of the items, the need for additional items, audience appropriateness, and any other improvements the researcher needed to consider. The hypotheses were tested using one-sample *t* tests and significance tests for Pearson product-moment correlation coefficients.

Major Findings

The results of the current study indicate that Black females neither agree nor disagree that they had the opportunity to learn social-emotional skills at the high school they most recently attended. When asked about their confidence in learning social-emotional skills, the results indicate that Black females agree they were confident they learned how to establish and maintain healthy and supportive relationships, but neither

agree nor disagree that they are confident that they learned social-emotional skills in the other areas at the high school they most recently attended. When Black females were asked about their agreement with Black female representation at the high school they attended, the results indicate that Black females neither agree nor disagree that they are represented in library books and resources and student population at the high school they most recently attended. However, the results provided evidence that Black females disagree that they were represented in the classroom experiences and school employees. Black females agreed or strongly agreed that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial had it been offered at the high school they most recently attended. The results provide no evidence for a relationship between Black females' agreement about the opportunity to learn social-emotional skills and their agreement that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial at the high school they most recently attended; no evidence for a relationship between Black females' agreement about their confidence in their social-emotional skills and their agreement that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial at the high school they most recently attended; and no evidence for a relationship between Black females' agreement about their representation in classroom experiences, library books and resources, school employees, or students at the high school they most recently attended and their agreement that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial.

Findings Related to the Literature

In this section, the current study's findings are compared to the existing literature on the topic. The focus of this study was on the experiences of Black females who

currently or recently attended a suburban high school. Even though the methodology used in this study was quantitative, the majority of comparisons were made to qualitative studies.

Findings from this study indicate that Black females neither agree nor disagree that they had the opportunity to learn social-emotional skills at the high school they most recently attended. Missouri is a state that no longer requires SEL programs to exist in public schools (Stanford & Prothero, 2023). If district and building-level administrators are not intentional about implementing SEL instruction, students may not seek to learn and acquire SEL education on their own.

Findings from the current study also indicate that Black females agree they were confident they learned how to establish and maintain healthy and supportive relationships. This finding supports Lohmann's (2023) findings related to Black high school students' beliefs and attitudes after SEL instruction. In Lohmann's (2023) study, the majority of students reported an enhanced ability to empathize with their peers, understand diverse perspectives, articulate their own beliefs, and reduce feelings of social isolation. The findings of the current study differ from O'Garro Joseph's (2007) research, which highlights Black female students' plight with the dominant culture imposing its idea of social life on the oppressed group, whereas the latter is unable to express an understanding of social life to the dominant culture. Consequently, Black females struggle to form and express their identities and sometimes become socially introverted, resulting in a perceived lack of confidence by peers and educators.

Findings from the current study also indicate that Black females disagreed they were represented in their classroom experiences. This finding supports Eggleston and

Miranda's (2009) finding that Black females expressed that there was a lack of representation of Black culture in a large Midwestern suburban high school. Schocker and Woyshner (2013) found that Black women are largely underrepresented in mainstream U.S. high school history textbooks, aligning with previous research on the absence of diversity in educational materials, which is supported by the findings of the current study.

Findings from the current study provided evidence that Black females agree that they were not represented when examining the school employee population. This finding supports Eggleston and Miranda's (2009) finding that all interviewed Black female students agreed they would like to see more teachers of color in their educational space. This finding is also critical to the success of Black female students, as noted in the findings of Neal-Jackson (2018) that K-12 Black female students reported experiencing diminished expectations from school administrators and educators and were frequently stereotyped, ultimately disregarding their academic requirements and neglecting their ethnic identities. To further highlight the importance of Black female representation in suburban high schools, Scherer and Cleveland (2022) reported that matching Black female students with approximately one additional Black female teacher resulted in a nearly 4.2% reduction in absences for the year and boosted individual motivation and interpersonal dynamics between students. Scherer and Cleveland (2022) also reported that matching teachers and students of the same race is linked to improvements in student achievement, decreased absences and suspensions, reduced high school dropout rates, and enhanced college enrollment.

The findings of this study indicate that Black females agreed or strongly agreed that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial had it been offered at the high school they most recently attended. Findings from Eggleston and Miranda (2009) revealed that Black females expressed that there was a lack of representation of Black culture. Eggleston and Miranda (2009) also revealed that Black females felt that support for Black issues was non-existent, which is supported by the findings of the current study. Furthermore, supportive findings from Marsh's (2013) qualitative study at a science and math focused suburban high school showed that Black female seniors sought out homogeneous, predominately Black social groups to preserve a portion of their Black identity.

Conclusions

The concluding section of Chapter 5 brings the study to a close. This section includes the implications for action and recommendations for future research. This section ends with concluding remarks.

Implications for Action

Due to the limited survey sample size, the implications that may be drawn from the results are limited. A replicated study with a larger sample size would garner more insight. Despite this, the results of this research study are significant and provide implications for action to district and building-level administration.

One immediate implication for action by district and building administrators is to create a counterspace designed for Black females at their school to include a social-emotional component. The barrier to creating the safest and bravest space for Black females in any school is the most recent documentation providing Title VI of the Civil

Rights Act of 1964, which states that by segregating students on the basis of race or by treating specific students or groups of students differently on the basis of race, schools may be in violation of Title VI (Lhamon, 2023). Yet, Lhamon (2023) highlights that the Office of Civil Rights would refuse to initiate an investigation in districts that allow counterspaces if all students were able to join the counterspace.

Another possible implication would be to address Black females' need to have the opportunity to learn SEL skills so they can be confident in the use of these skills. At the same time, administrators should focus their energy on professional development that helps teachers shape their identity development (Elliott-Schrimmer, 2023). In fact, more classes on racial identity should be offered in teacher preparation programs, and a more inclusive and anti-racist approach should be incorporated into the curriculum of teacher preparation programs (Elliott-Schrimmer, 2023). Furthermore, since Missouri is a state that can no longer requires SEL programs to exist in public schools (Stanford & Prothero, 2023), district and building-level administrators must be intentional about implementing SEL instruction, as students may not seek to learn and acquire SEL education on their own. Lastly, district and building level administrators should examine the culture of their districts to entice Black women to apply to work in their space, and not just hire Black women for Black female students, but for all students.

Recommendations for Future Research

In this study, Black females' level of agreement that they had the opportunity to learn and are confident in their social-emotional skills, the extent of representation for Black females they currently or recently attended, the agreement about the benefits of a counterspace for Black females had been offered at the high school they most recently

attended was measured. The study also focused on the extent there is a relationship between Black females' agreement about the opportunity to learn social-emotional skills, their confidence in their social-emotional skills, and the representation of Black females and their agreement that a counterspace designed for Black females would have been beneficial at the high school they most recently attended. Because no single study can thoroughly investigate every facet of a given issue, recommendations for future research are made. The recommendations for future research include the following:

- replicate the current study in other suburban cities because this research focused on suburban schools in the Kansas City metro area;
- replicate the current study in one suburban school district to gain more insight
 into the social-emotional needs of one suburban district's Black female
 population;
- replicate the current study for Black females in private and rural schools because this study focused on Black females in suburban schools;
- replicate the current study as a mixed-methods study by adding a qualitative component because having personal anecdotes from a focus group would provide a future researcher with specific information about their experiences; and
- replicate the current study for all female students in a suburban space, adding
 a modification to RQ 4 that replaces "Black" with other races. Conducting this
 study would allow researchers to compare and contrast the results.

Concluding Remarks

Without a doubt, Black females agree it would have been beneficial to have a counterspace designed for them in their suburban educational space. Therefore, if the goal of public education is to create equitable spaces for all students to learn, educational systems should seek to support Black females' social-emotional well-being, especially in suburban spaces and other spaces where they are not socially or culturally dominant. The educational experiences of Black females in suburban areas are complex and multifaceted. Further research is needed to better understand the challenges Black females face and their strategies to succeed in their educational pursuits in suburban spaces. By examining the experiences of this often-overlooked population, a better understanding of how race, gender, and geographic location intersect to impact social-emotional outcomes is necessary for their overall K-12 school experience. This researcher hopes that the educational experience of suburban Black females is prioritized and attended to for their academic and social-emotional advancement in their educational experience and beyond.

References

- Adukia, A., Eble, A., Harrison, E., Runesha, H. B., & Szasz, T. (2021, October 6). What we teach about race and gender: Representation in images and text of children's books. BFI. https://bfi.uchicago.edu/insight/research-summary/what-we-teach-about-race-and-gender-representation-in-images-and-text-of-childrens-books/
- Anderson, B. N. (2020). "See me, see us": Understanding the intersections and continued marginalization of adolescent gifted Black girls in U.S. classrooms, *Gifted Child Today*, 43(2), 86-100. https://doi.org/10.1177/1076217519898216
- Anderson, J. L. (2022). *Incidents in the life of a cyber girl: Exploring Instagram as a potential counterspace for Black girls' literacy practices* (Publication No. 29165274) [Doctoral dissertation, The University of North Carolina at Charlotte].
 ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Global.
- Annamma, S. A., Anyon, Y., Joseph, N. M., Farrar, J., Greer, E., Downing, B., & Simmons, J. (2019). Black girls and school discipline: The complexities of being overrepresented and understudied. *Urban Education*, *54*(2), 211–242. https://doi.org./10.1177/0042085916646610
- Andrews, D. J. C. (2009). The construction of Black high-achiever identities in a predominantly White high school. *Anthropology & Education Quarterly*, 40(3), 297–317. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1548-1492.2009.01046.x
- Andrews, D. J. C., Brown, T., Castro, E., & Id-Deen, E. (2019). The impossibility of being "perfect and White": Black girls' racialized and gendered schooling experiences. *American Educational Research Journal*, *56*(6), 2531–2572. https://doi.org/10.3102/0002831219849392

- Appleseed Network. (2020). *Protecting girls of color from the school-to-prison pipeline*. https://massappleseed.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/Appleseed-Multistate-Pamphlet.pdf
- Archer-Banks, D. A. M., & Behar-Horenstein, L. S. (2012). Ogbu revisited: Unpacking high-achieving African American girls' high school experiences. *Urban Education*, 47(1), 198-223. https://doi.org/10.1177/0042085911427739
- Barnum, M. (2023, August 25). Schools can host frank discussions of racism, but likely can't create race-limited groups, Feds say. Chalkbeat.

 https://www.chalkbeat.org/2023/8/25/23845750/federal-guidance-biden-administration-department-education-race-racism-affinity-groups/
- Barshay, J. (2023, August 17). *Proof points: A research update on social-emotional*learning in schools. Hechinger Report. https://hechingerreport.org/proof-points-a-research-update-on-social-emotional-learning-in-schools/
- Bell, M. K. (2015). Making space: Affinity groups offer a platform for voices often relegated to the margins. *Teaching Tolerance*, *50*(Summer), 31–33. https://www.learningforjustice.org/sites/default/files/general/Making%20Space% 20-%20TT50.pdf
- Blake, J. J., Butler, B. R., Lewis, C. W., & Darensbourg, A. (2010). Unmasking the inequitable discipline experiences of urban Black girls: Implications for urban educational stakeholders. *The Urban Review*, *43*(1), 90–106. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11256-009-0148-8

- Billingsley, C. C. (2018). What about us? For girls between worlds: How Black girls navigate White high schools (Publication No. 2179214263) [Doctoral dissertation, University of Missouri Saint Louis]. ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Global.
- Bondi, V. (1995). Suburbanization. In V. Bondi (Ed.), American decades (Vol. 5). Gale
- Bottiani, J. H., Bradshaw, C. P., Gregory, A., & Reschly, A. (2018). Nudging the gap:

 Introduction to the special issue "Closing in on discipline disproportionality."

 School Psychology Review, 47(2), 109–117. https://doi.org/10.17105/SPR-2018-0023.V47-2
- Breslow, J. M., Wexler, E., & Collins, R. (2016, January 4). *The return of school segregation in eight charts*. https://www.pbs.org/wgbh/frontline/article/the-return-of-school-segregation-in-eight-charts/
- Brown, B. (2020). Closing the opportunity gap in affluent suburban schools: What seems to be missing in the land of opportunity (Publication No. 28028448) [Doctoral dissertation, Temple University]? ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Global.
- Burleson, S. E., & Thoron, A. C. (2014). *Maslow's hierarchy of needs and its relation to learning and achievement*. University of Florida Institute of Food and Agricultural Sciences. https://tinyurl.com/46f5698b
- Carter, D. J. (2007). Why the Black kids sit together at the stairs: The role of identity-affirming counter-spaces in a predominantly White high school. *Journal of Negro Education*, 76(4), 542–554. https://www.jstor.org/stable/40037227

- Case, A. D., & Hunter, C. D. (2012). Counterspaces: A unit of analysis for understanding the role of settings in marginalized individuals' adaptive responses to oppression.

 American Journal of Community Psychology, 50(1/2), 257–270.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10464-012-9497-7
- Cipriano, C., Strambler, M. J., Naples, L. H., Ha, C., Kirk, M., Wood, M., Sehgal, K.,
 Zieher, A. K., Eveleigh, A., McCarthy, M., Funaro, M., Ponnock, A., Chow, J. C.,
 & Durlak, J. (2023). The state of evidence for social and emotional learning: A
 contemporary meta-analysis of universal school-based SEL interventions. *Child Development*, 94(5), 1181–1204. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.13968
- Collaborative for Academic, Social, and Emotional Learning. (2020, October). *CASEL's*SEL framework: What are the core competence areas and where are they

 promoted? https://casel.org/casel-sel-framework-11-2020/?view=true
- Collaborative for Academic, Social, and Emotional Learning (2023a). *Kansas: A vision*for integrating SEL with career and workforce development for students

 https://casel.org/kansas-sel-workforce/?view=true
- Collaborative for Academic, Social, and Emotional Learning (2023b) *Our history*. https://casel.org/about-us/our-history/
- Collaborative for Academic, Social, and Emotional Learning (2023c). *SEL policy at the federal level*. https://casel.org/systemic-implementation/sel-policy-at-the-federal-level/
- Collaborative for Academic, Social, and Emotional Learning (2023d). *SEL policy at the state level*. https://casel.org/systemic-implementation/sel-policy-at-the-state-level/

- Collaborative for Academic, Social, and Emotional Learning (2024). *Our mission and work*. https://casel.org/about-us/our-mission-work/.
- Champion, T. (2003). Suburbanization. In P. Demeny & G. McNicoll (Eds.),

 Encyclopedia of population (Vol. 2, pp. 925-926). Macmillan Reference USA.
- Chapman, T. K., & Bhopal, K. (2019). The perils of integration: Exploring the experiences of African American and Black Caribbean students in predominately White secondary schools. *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, 42(7), 1110–1129. https://doi.org/10.1080/01419870.2018.1478110
- Cobb, S. A. (2023). *Discrimination of Black people in Kansas City metro schools*.

 Murray State's Digital Commons.

 https://digitalcommons.murraystate.edu/etd/283/
- Crenshaw, K., Ocen, P., & Nada, J. (2015). *Black girls matter: Pushed out, overpoliced, and underprotected.*https://scholarship.law.columbia.edu/faculty_scholarship/3227
- Cumi, K., Washington, A. & Daneshzadeh, A. (2017). Standing in solidarity with Black girls to dismantle the school-to-prison pipeline. *The Power of Resistance*(Advances in Education in Diverse Communities), 12, 221-241. Emerald Publishing Limited. https://doi.org/10.1108/S1479-358X20140000012011
- Diamond, J. B., Posey-Maddox, L., & Velázquez, M. D. (2021). Reframing suburbs: Race, place, and opportunity in suburban educational spaces. *Educational Researcher*, *50*(4), 249–255. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X20972676

- Dorsey, D. (2022, May 7). *More evidence of structural segregation in Kansas public schools*. https://kansaspolicy.org/more-evidence-of-structural-segregation-in-kansas-public-schools/
- Egede, L. E., Walker, R. J., Campbell, J. A., Linde, S., Hawks, L. C., & Burgess, K. M. (2023). Modern day consequences of historic redlining: Finding a path forward.

 Journal of General Internal Medicine, 38(6), 1534–1537.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-023-08051-4
- Eggleston, T. A., & Miranda, A. H. (2009). Black girls' voices: Exploring their lived experiences in a predominately White high school. *Race/Ethnicity:*Multidisciplinary Global Contexts, 2(2), 259–285.

 http://www.jstor.org/stable/25595015
- Elliott-Schrimmer, J. (2023). "Young, gifted, and Black": Understanding the complex experiences of high-achieving Black students in AP classes at a diverse suburban high school.
 - https://via.library.depaul.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1249&context=soe_etd
- Epstein, R., Blake, J. J., & González, T. (2017). *Girlhood interrupted: The erasure of Black girls' childhood*. https://www.law.georgetown.edu/poverty-inequality-center/wp-content/uploads/sites/14/2017/08/girlhood-interrupted.pdf
- Field, K. (2022, March 11). Social and emotional learning is the latest flashpoint in the education wars. Hechinger Report. https://hechingerreport.org/social-and-emotional-learning-is-the-latest-flashpoint-in-the-education-wars/
- Fordham, S. (2016). *Downed by friendly fire: Black girls, White girls, and suburban schooling*. University of Minnesota Press.

- Frankenberg, E., Ee, J., Ayscue, J. B., & Orfield, G. (2019, May 10). *Harming our common future: America's segregated schools 65 years after Brown*. https://escholarship.org/uc/item/23j1b9nv
- Frederic, Y. C. (2022). Black girls negotiating code-switching: The importance of culturally relevant pedagogy in the classroom. *Voices in Urban Education*, *50*(2), 55–59. http://tinyurl.com/blackgirlcodeswitch
- George, J. (2021). The ghosts of segregation continue to haunt Kansas City's educational landscape. In G. Grant (Ed.), *Charting the path forward: State of Black Kansas City* (pp. 93-96). http://tinyurl.com/ghostsofsegKC
- Gotham, K. F. (2000). Separate and unequal: The Housing Act of 1968 and the Section 235 program. *Sociological Forum*, *15*(1), 13–37. https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1007542019652
- Green, K. L. (2020). High school matters: Affinity groups as equitable student engagement. *English Journal*, *109*(6), 13–15. https://doi.org/10.58680/ej202030778
- Hall, K. L., & Ely, J. W. (2009). *The Oxford guide to United States Supreme Court decisions*. Oxford University Press.
- Harrison, D. L. (2018). Affinity spaces: Reflections from an EL elementary teacher.

 **Kentucky Reading Journal*, (Fall), 35-46.

 https://www.academia.edu/44536951/Affinity_Spaces_Reflections_from_an_EL_

 Elementary_Teacher

- Haynes, C., Stewart, S., & Allen, E. (2016). Three paths, one struggle: Black women and girls battling invisibility in U.S. classrooms. *The Journal of Negro Education*, 85(3), 380–391. https://doi.org/10.7709/jnegroeducation.85.3.0380
- Hill, C. (2021). Left behind: Black children at the bottom of the education well. In G.Grant (Ed.), Charting the path forward: State of Black Kansas City (pp. 97-104).http://tinyurl.com/leftbehindblackchildren
- Hill, S. A. (2023). Creating brave spaces for Black female students in secondary education: A school psychologist's guide to centering Black student narratives and experiences in education (Publication No. 2822906741) [Doctoral dissertation, Alliant International University]. ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Global.
- Hines, D. E., & Wilmot, J. M. (2018). From spirit-murdering to spirit-healing:
 Addressing anti-Black aggressions and the inhumane discipline of Black children.
 Multicultural Perspectives, 20(2), 62–69.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/15210960.2018.1447064
- Hinkelman, L. (2023). *The 2023 girls' index by ruling our eXperiences*. Ruling Our eXperiences. https://tinyurl.com/bdcsr54k
- Hubbard, L. (2005). The role of gender in academic performance. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education*, 18(5), 605-623. https://doi.org/10.1080/09518390500224887
- Ispa-Landa, S. (2013). Gender, race, and justifications for group exclusion: Urban Black students bussed to affluent suburban schools. *Sociology of Education*, 86(3), 218–233. https://doi.org/10.1177/0038040712472912

- Johnson County Museum. (2022, August 5). *Inside JCPRD: Was Johnson County redlined?* https://shawneemissionpost.com/2022/08/03/inside-jcprd-was-johnson-county-redlined-150427/
- Jones, R. S. (2003). Suburbanization. In S. I. Kutler (Ed.), *Dictionary of American history* (3rd ed., Vol. 7, pp. 571-576). Charles Scribner's Sons
- Jones-Malone, D. (2011). The Black body as a counterspace: The experiences of African American students at a predominantly White institution (Publication No. 868276697) [Doctoral dissertation, Indiana State University]. ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Global.
- Joseph, N. M., Viesca, K. M., & Bianco, M. (2016). Black female adolescents and racism in schools: Experiences in a colorblind society. *The High School Journal*, 100(1), 4–25. https://doi.org/10.1353/hsj.2016.0018
- Joyner, R. L., Rouse, W. A., & Glatthorn, A. A. (2018). Writing the winning thesis or dissertation- A step-by-step guide (4th ed.). Corwin Press.
- Karst, K. L. (2000). Missouri v. Jenkins 495 U.S. 33 (1990). In L. W. Levy & K. L. Karst (Eds.), *Encyclopedia of the American Constitution* (2nd ed., Vol. 4, p. 1747). Macmillan Reference USA.
- Kaur, R. (2020). Fostering African American female students' sense of belonging: A digital storytelling participatory action research approach [Doctoral dissertation, University of Louisville]. The University of Louisville's Institutional Repository. https://ir.library.louisville.edu/etd/3548/
- Keels, M. (2019). Campus counterspaces: Black and Latinx students' search for community at historically White universities. Cornell University Press.

- Kelly, L. L. (2020). "I love us for real": Exploring homeplace as a site of healing and resistance for Black girls in schools. *Equity & Excellence in Education*, 53(4), 449–464. https://doi.org/10.1080/10665684.2020.1791283
- Leath, S., Mathews, C., Harrison, A., & Chavous, T. (2019). Racial identity, racial discrimination, and classroom engagement outcomes among Black girls and boys in predominantly Black and predominantly White school districts. *American Educational Research Journal*, *56*(4), 1318–1352.

 https://doi.org/10.3102/0002831218816955
- Lewis, A. S. (2023). Moving beyond buzzwords: Dismantling inequities in education through bold, courageous, and innovative leadership. In G. Grant (Ed.), *From redlining to chalk lines: The cost of economic injustice. 2023 state of Black Kansas City.* (pp. 104-109). Urban League of Greater Kansas City. https://online.fliphtml5.com/ochel/uxnc/#p=1
- Lhamon, C. E. (2023, August). *Race and school programming*. https://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/letters/colleague-20230824.pdf
- Lindenfield, G. (2014). *Emotional confidence: Simple steps to build your confidence*. Harper Thorsons.
- LoGalbo, L. H. (2023). *High performing African American students: Defying the achievement gap* (Publication No. 2814623886) [Doctoral dissertation, Youngstown State University]. ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Global.

- Lohmann, E. (2023). *Black students' perspectives of social emotional learning*[Educational Specialist Thesis, University of Dayton]. OhioLINK Electronic Theses and Dissertations Center.
 - http://rave.ohiolink.edu/etdc/view?acc_num=dayton1684342733153643
- Lueken, A., Mangan, M., & Smaellie, S. (2022). The hand that rocks the cradle cannot read this title: The multi-generational effect of illiteracy in the lives of Black American women. *Utah Women's Health Review*. doi:10.26054/od-86nh-yyqh
- Lunenburg, F. C., & Irby, B. J. (2008). Writing a successful thesis or dissertation: Tips and strategies for students in the social and behavioral sciences. Corwin Press. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781483329659
- Marsh, K. (2013). "Staying Black": The demonstration of racial identity and womanhood among a group of young high-achieving Black women. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education*, 26(10), 1213-1237. https://doi.org/10.1080/09518398.2012.731536
- Martin, L. X. (2022, January 5). For Black students in Kansas City's suburbs, attending school can mean regularly facing racist bullying. KCUR.

 https://www.kcur.org/news/2022-01-05/for-black-students-in-kansas-citys-suburbs-attending-school-can-mean-regularly-facing-racist-bullying
- Mid-America Regional Council. (2021). *Demographic data by county*.

 https://www.marc.org/economy/workforce-development/demographic-data-county

- Mid-America Regional Council. (2023, March 2.). History of racial discrimination in housing still impacts Kansas City region today.
 https://www.marc.org/news/economy/history-racial-discrimination-housing-still-impacts-kansas-city-region-today
- Missouri v. Jenkins 515 U.S. 70. (1995). *Encyclopedia of the American Constitution*. https://www.encyclopedia.com/politics/encyclopedias-almanacs-transcripts-and-maps/missouri-v-jenkins-515-us-70-1995
- Morris, E. W. (2007). "Ladies" or "loudies"? *Youth and Society*, *38*(4), 490–515. https://doi.org/10.1177/0044118x06296778
- Morris, M. W. (2012). Race, gender and the school-to-prison pipeline: Expanding our discussion to include Black girls. https://schottfoundation.org/wp-content/uploads/Morris-Race-Gender-and-the-School-to-Prison-Pipeline.pdf
- Morris, M. W. (2016). Protecting Black girls. *Educational Leadership*, 74(3), 49–53. https://www.ascd.org/el/articles/protecting-black-girls
- Morris, M. W. (2018). Pushout: The criminalization of Black girls in schools. New Press.
- Morris, M. W. (2019, April). Countering the adultification of Black girls. *Educational Leadership*, 76(7), 44-48. https://www.ascd.org/el/articles/countering-the-adultification-of-black-girls
- Morris, M. W. (2022). *Cultivating joyful learning spaces for Black girls: Insights into interrupting school pushout*. Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.

- Myers, K., Trull, L. H., Bryson, B. J., & Yeom, H. S. (2019). Affinity groups: Redefining brave spaces. *Journal of Baccalaureate Social Work*, 24(1), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.18084/1084-7219.24.1.1
- Nash, E. R. (2009). Black female student's experiences in a predominantly White high achieving suburban school: Implications for theory and practice (Publication No. 305085979) [Doctoral dissertation, University of Missouri-St. Louis]. ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Global.
- National Center for Education Statistics. (2021). *NTPS state dashboard*, 2020–21. NTPS Dashboard. https://nces.ed.gov/surveys/ntps/ntpsdashboard/map/1
- Neal-Jackson, A. (2018). A meta-ethnographic review of the experiences of African American girls and young women in K-12 education. *Review of Educational Research*, 88(4), 508–546. https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654318760785
- Neuenswander, B. (2021). *Measuring social-emotional growth locally*. Kansas State Board of Education. https://tinyurl.com/2k8ubz3t
- Norris, D., & Baek, M. (2016). *H.E.A.T. full report*. https://wearewyandotte.com/wp-content/uploads/2016/12/CHC_HeatReport_1228.pdf
- O'Garro Joseph, G. (2007). An ethnographic examination of the "invisible presence" of Black girls in a suburban elementary school (Publication No. 304796756)

 [Doctoral Dissertation, Washington University]. ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Global.
- Ogbu, J. U. (2003). Black American students in an affluent suburb: A study of academic disengagement. Routledge.

- Patton, L. D., Crenshaw, K., Haynes, C., & Watson, T. N. (2016). Why we can't wait: (Re)examining the opportunities and challenges for Black women and girls in education (Guest editorial). *The Journal of Negro_Education*, 85(3), 194–198. https://doi.org/10.7709/jnegroeducation.85.3.0194
- Pendharkar, E. (2022, November 2). Safe space or segregation? Affinity groups for teachers, students of color. Education Week.

 https://www.edweek.org/leadership/safe-space-or-segregation-affinity-groups-for-teachers-students-of-color/2022/11
- Pieretti, G. (2014). Suburbanization. In C. Michalos (Ed.), *Encyclopedia of quality of life*and well-being research. Springer Dordrecht. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-0070753-5_2
- Price, E. (2022). It's the focus on Black girls for me: A mixed methods inquiry into perceptions of school climate (Publication No. 2699985729) [Doctoral dissertation, Rowan University]. ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Global.
- Riley, C. (2021). Black students in a sea of whiteness: The challenges we face in suburban schools. In G. Grant (Ed.), *Charting the path forward: State of Black Kansas City* (pp. 116-118). https://tinyurl.com/mryy4bj4
- Rinehart, N. C. (2003). Social confidence and social anxiety: Differences in cognitive processing [Doctoral dissertation, North Dakota State University]. ScholarWorks at University of Montana.
 - https://scholarworks.umt.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=10503&context=et d

- Robbins, S. D., Chatterjee, P., & Canda, E. R. (2011). *Contemporary human behavior theory: A critical perspective for social work* (3rd ed.). Pearson Education.
- Rodick, W. (2023, March 28). *Guess what? There's already under-representation in school curricula*. The Education Trust. https://edtrust.org/the-equity-line/guess-what-theres-already-under-representation-in-school-curricula/
- Rothstein, R. (2018). *The color of law*. Liveright Publishing Corporation.
- Rury, J. (2019). Educational inequality in Greater Kansas City remains an enduring problem. In G. Grant (Ed.), *Urban education: Still separate and unequal* (pp. 67-75). https://tinyurl.com/bdfv6mwj
- Sackett, P. R., & Larson, J. (1990). Research strategies and tactics in I/O psychology. In
 M. D. Dunnette, & L. Hough (Eds.), Handbook of industrial and organizational
 psychology (2nd ed., pp. 419-489) *Consulting Psychologists Press*.
- Samuels, C. A. (2020, December 1). White parents say they value integrated schools.

 Their actions speak differently. Education Week.

 https://www.edweek.org/leadership/white-parents-say-they-value-integrated-schools-their-actions-speak-differently/2020/02
- Sankaran, R. (2022, November). *Reliability measures for scale items using SPSS*.

 LinkedIn. https://www.linkedin.com/pulse/reliability-measures-scale-items-using-spss-raja-sankaran/
- Scherer, E., & Cleveland, C. (2022). The effects of teacher-student demographic matching on social-emotional learning (EdWorkingPaper No. 21-399). https://doi.org/10.26300/3xq6-4k05

- Schocker, J. B., & Woyshner, C. (2013). Representing African American women in U.S. history textbooks. *The Social Studies*, *104*(1), 23-31. www.doi.org/10.1080/00377996.2012.655346
- Scott, M. N. (2023). Fix your crown, queen: Supporting Black girls through a culturally enriched social-emotional learning intervention (Publication No. 2864471735)

 [Doctoral Dissertation, University of Cincinnati]. ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Global.
- Sireno, L., & Bates, S. (2022, August). August 2022 report on the 2021-22 MAP grade-level and end-of-course preliminary statewide results in English language arts, mathematics, science, and social studies. https://dese.mo.gov/media/pdf/august-2022-report-2021-22-map-grade-level-and-end-course-preliminary-statewide-results
- Skeffrey, D. C. (2022, October 17). *Black women leaders: Sociopolitical identity development as a pathway to success*. NYU Steinhardt. https://steinhardt.nyu.edu/metrocenter/vue/black-women-leaders
- Solorzano, D., Ceja, M., & Yosso, T. (2000). Critical race theory, racial microaggressions, and campus racial climate: The experiences of African American college students. *The Journal of Negro Education*, 69(1/2), 60–73. http://www.jstor.org/stable/2696265
- Stanford, L. (2023, November 30). The perception of suburban schools as White and wealthy needs to change, researchers say. Education Week.

 https://tinyurl.com/muxbe4ww

- Stanford, L., & Prothero, A. (2023, November 1). What 1 state's saga shows about the status of social-emotional learning. Education Week.

 https://www.edweek.org/leadership/what-1-states-saga-shows-about-the-status-of-social-emotional-learning/2023/10
- Tabron, L. A., & Chambers, T. T. V. (2019). What is being Black and high achieving going to cost me in your school? Students speak out about their educational experiences through a racial opportunity cost lens. *The High School Journal*, 102(2), 118–138. https://www.jstor.org/stable/26757720
- Tatum, B. D. (2017). Why are all the Black kids sitting together in the cafeteria?: And other conversations about race [Ebook]. Basic Books.
- The Education Trust. (2021). *Is your state prioritizing students' social, emotional and academic development?* https://edtrust.org/is-your-state-prioritizing-sead/
- Toliver, S. R. (2018). Alterity and innocence: *The Hunger Games*, Rue, and Black girl adultification. *Journal of Children's Literature*, 44(2), 4–15. http://www.childrensliteratureassembly.org/journal.html
- Trabert, D. (2023, October 23). *Race-based and income-based achievement gaps widen*in Kansas since 2015. Kansas Policy Institute. https://kansaspolicy.org/race-based-and-income-based-achievement-gaps-widen-in-kansas-since-2015/
- Voxco. (2021, October 4). *Descriptive survey design*. https://www.voxco.com/blog/descriptive-survey-design
- Watson, T. (2016). "Talking back": The perceptions and experiences of Black girls who attend city high school. *The Journal of Negro Education*, 85(3), 239–249. https://doi.org/10.7709/jnegroeducation.85.3.0239

The White House. (2021, October 8). American Rescue Plan. The White House.

https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/legislation/2021/01/20/president-

biden-announces-american-rescue-plan/

Appendices

Appendix A: Social Media Solicitation for Email Addresses of Survey Participants

Calling all Black ladies, 18 and older, who attend or have recently graduated from a suburban public high school in the Kansas City metro area!

I'm a doctoral candidate, and for my research, I need input from Black females, 18 and older, who attend or have recently graduated from a suburban public high school in the Kansas City metro area.

Do you or anyone you know fit this criterion?

If so, can you please do the following:

- 1) Like/comment/share this post. The more interaction, the better the reach!
- 2) Text the following link to those you know: https://forms.gle/C9eSa3yFiEYh42CC8 It's the same link attached to the QR code.
- 3) Send the attached flyer to local business owners to post in their business.

Thanks for helping me out! #drmalloading



Appendix B: Survey

Counterspace Benefit for Black Students in Suburban High School Spaces

Social-Emotional Skills

Directions: Please select the extent to which you agree or disagree with the statements below the prompt.

At the high school I most recently attended, I have had opportunities to learn how to...

	Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly Agree
Understand my own emotions,					
thoughts, and values and how they					
influence my actions.					
Manage my emotions, thoughts,					
and behaviors effectively in					
different situations to achieve my					
goals and aspirations.					
Understand the perspective of and					
empathize with others from					
different backgrounds, cultures, &					
contexts.					
Establish and maintain healthy and					
supportive relationships.					
Effectively navigate settings with					
diverse individuals and groups.					
Make caring and constructive					
choices about personal behavior					
and social interactions across					
diverse situations.					

Social-Emotional Confidence

Directions: Please select the extent to which you agree or disagree with the statements below the prompt.

At the high school I most recently attended, I am confident that I learned how to...

At the high school I most recently att	Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
	Disagree	S			Agree
Understand my own emotions,					
thoughts, and values and how they					
influence my actions.					
Manage my emotions, thoughts,					
and behaviors effectively in					
different situations to achieve my					
goals and aspirations.					
Understand the perspective of and					
empathize with others from					
different backgrounds, cultures, &					
contexts.					
Establish and maintain healthy and					
supportive relationships.					
Effectively navigate settings with					
diverse individuals and groups.					
Make caring and constructive					
choices about personal behavior					
and social interactions across					
diverse situations.					

Black Female Representation

Directions: Please select the extent to which you agree or disagree with the statements below the prompt.

At the high school I most recently attended, Black females are represented in...

	Strongly	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly
	Disagree				Agree
Classroom Experiences					
Books and Resources in the					
Library					
School Employees					
Students					

Counterspace

A counterspace is a safe space where individuals with shared identities come together to promote self-perception, discuss experiences, and affirm their feelings as marginalized members of a school, business, church, or other organization.

Directions: Please select the extent to which you agree or disagree with the statement below the prompt.

	Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Strongly Agree
A counterspace designed for Black					
females would have been					
beneficial at the high school I					
most recently attended.					

Thank you for taking the survey!

I appreciate your time and effort.

Appendix C: Expert Panel Email

Dear XXXXX,

I am a doctoral candidate at Baker University, and I am conducting research for my dissertation. My research topic focuses on the benefit of social-emotional counterspaces for Black females in suburban high schools. I am gathering feedback related to the survey I plan to administer to Black females, ages 18 and older, who currently or recently attended a suburban high school in the Kansas City Metro Area. As a [Black female educator], your input will be extremely helpful to my understanding of whether I have an appropriate collection of questions for my audience.

I would appreciate it if you could take a few minutes to review my survey and provide feedback on the relevance of the items, the need for additional items, audience appropriateness, and any other improvements you think I may need to consider. I ask that you evaluate the survey items in the following areas:

- Are the questions appropriate to ask Black females, ages 18 and older, who currently or recently attended a suburban high school in the Kansas City Metro Area?
- o Are the questions understandable, too wordy, or complicated?
- o Do the questions appropriately and sufficiently address the topic?
- o Do you have suggestions to modify the survey to properly address the topic?

Attached are the survey items for your review. I am requesting a response by [insert a date a week from sending the email] for your feedback. Please contact me at MalloryDMcCoy@stu.bakeru.edu if you have any questions or concerns. Your input is greatly appreciated.

Sincerely,

Mallory D. McCoy EdD Doctoral Candidate Baker University

Appendix D: IRB Approval Letter



Baker University Institutional Review Board

November 30, 2023

Dear Mallory McCoy and Susan Rogers,

The Baker University IRB has reviewed your project application and approved this project under Expedited Status Review. As described, the project complies with all the requirements and policies established by the University for protection of human subjects in research. Unless renewed, approval lapses one year after approval date.

Please be aware of the following:

- Any significant change in the research protocol as described should be reviewed by this Committee prior to altering the project.
- Notify the IRB about any new investigators not named in original application.
- When signed consent documents are required, the primary investigator must retain the signed consent documents of the research activity.
- If this is a funded project, keep a copy of this approval letter with your proposal/grant file.
- If the results of the research are used to prepare papers for publication or oral
 presentation at professional conferences, manuscripts or abstracts are requested
 for IRB as part of the project record.
- 6. If this project is not completed within a year, you must renew IRB approval.

If you have any questions, please contact me at skimball@bakeru.edu or 785.594.4563.

Sincerely,

Scott Kimball, PhD

Chair, Baker University IRB

Baker University IRB Committee Jiji Osiobe, PhD

> Tim Buzzell, PhD Susan Rogers, PhD

Appendix E: Solicitation Email

My name is Mallory McCoy, and I am a doctoral candidate at Baker University conducting research for my dissertation. I am writing to invite you to complete an important survey that is crucial to my academic work. My study relies on input from Black female students who are currently attending or have recently graduated from a suburban high school.

The purpose of my study is to determine the extent to which Black females agree they had the opportunity to learn about and are confident in their social-emotional skills; to assess the extent of representation for Black females in classroom experiences, library books and resources, school employees, and students at the high school they recently attended; and their agreement about a counterspace for Black females being offered at the high school they most recently attended.

The survey will take approximately 10-15 minutes to complete. Your privacy is important. Therefore, your identity will remain anonymous, your responses will be kept confidential, and your responses will be combined with other participants' responses and reported in summary format. The information reported will not indicate individual participants or schools.

Your participation is entirely voluntary, and you may withdraw at any time without consequences. You may opt out of any questions you are uncomfortable responding to or discontinue your participation at any time. Your completion and submission of the survey will indicate your consent to participate and permission for me to use the information you provided for my study.

To participate in the survey, please click the following link: forms.gle/2QqG4nyyxpqwEVo78

Your input is highly valuable to me, and your participation will be greatly appreciated. If you have any questions or require further information about the survey, please do not hesitate to contact me at <a href="mailto:mailto

I would like to express my sincere gratitude for your consideration of this request, and I am eager to receive your valuable input. Your participation will provide valuable insights to advance knowledge in this field.

Thank you for your time and consideration.

Sincerely,

Mallory D. McCoy Doctoral Student, Baker University mallorydmccoy@stu.bakeru.edu

Appendix F: Solicitation Email Reminder

My name is Mallory McCoy, and I am a doctoral candidate at Baker University conducting research for my dissertation. I previously emailed to invite you to participate in an important survey that is crucial to my academic work. My study relies on input from Black female students who are currently attending or recently graduated from a suburban high school.

The purpose of my study is to determine the extent to which Black females agree they had the opportunity to learn about and are confident in their social-emotional skills, to assess the extent of representation for Black females in classroom experiences, library books and resources, school employees, and students at the high school they recently attended, and their agreement about a counterspace for Black females being offered at the high school they most recently attended. Your participation will provide valuable insights to advance knowledge in this field.

The survey will take approximately 10-15 minutes to complete. Your privacy is important. Therefore, your identity will remain anonymous, your responses will be kept confidential, your responses will be combined with other participants' responses and reported in summary format, and the information reported will not indicate individual participants or schools.

Your participation is entirely voluntary, and you may withdraw at any time without consequences. You may opt out of any questions you are uncomfortable responding to or discontinue your participation at any time. Your completion and submission of the survey will indicate your consent to participate and permission to use the information you provided for my study.

To participate in the survey, please click the following link: forms.gle/2QqG4nyyxpqwEVo78

Please consider completing this survey. Your input is highly valuable to me, and your participation will be greatly appreciated. If you have any questions or require further information about the survey, please do not hesitate to contact me at <a href="mailto:m

I would again like to express my sincere gratitude for your consideration of this request, and I am eager to receive your valuable input. Your contribution will make a meaningful impact on the success of my dissertation research.

Sincerely,

Mallory D. McCoy Doctoral Student, Baker University mallorydmccoy@stu.bakeru.edu